DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 90

DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 90

EEROLD VELLEMÄE

Applications of mischmetal in organic synthesis



Faculty of Science and Technology, Institute of Chemistry, University of Tartu, Estonia

Dissertation in organic chemistry

Dissertation is accepted for the commencement of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Chemistry on September 22th, 2009 by the Council of Institute of Chemistry, University of Tartu.

Supervisor:	Assoc. Prof. Dr. Uno Mäeorg
Opponent:	Dr. Peteris Trapencieris (Latvian Institute of Organic Synthesis, Riga, Latvia)
Commencement:	October 30 th , 2009, at 15:00 18 Ülikooli Str., room 204

ISSN 1406–0299 ISBN 978–9949–19–230–4 (trükis) ISBN 978–9949–19–231–1 (PDF)

Autoriõigus: Eerold Vellemäe, 2009

Tartu Ülikooli Kirjastus www.tyk.ee Tellimus nr. 381

CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	6
ABBREVIATIONS	7
1. INTRODUCTION	8
 LITERATURE OVERVIEW 2.1. General information of mischmetal (MM) 2.2. Properties of MM 2.3. Applications of MM in industry 2.4. MM in organic synthesis 2.5. Pinacol coupling of imines 2.6. Reformatsky reaction 2.7. Cleavage of Troc group from amines and hydrazines 2.8. Deprotection of Tos group from amines 	9 9 10 11 12 18 20 22 23
3. AIMS OF STUDY	25
 4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	26 26 30 33 39
5. EXPERIMENTAL	42
6. CONCLUSIONS	46
7. SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN	49
8. REFERENCES	51
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	54
PUBLICATIONS	55

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- I. Vellemäe, E., Tšubrik, O., Loog, O., Mäeorg, S., Mäeorg, U. Mischmetal and zinc-copper couple as efficient reagent for the pinacol coupling of aldimines. *Journal of Chemical Research*, **2006**, 149–150.
- II. Vellemäe, E., Lebedev, O., Sillard R., Mäeorg, U. A Selective method for cleavage of N-Troc protected hydrazines and amines in mild conditions using mischmetal and TMSCI. *Journal of Chemical Research*, 2006, 685– 687.
- III. Vellemäe, E., Lebedev, O., Mäeorg, U. A mild method for cleavage of N-Tos protected amines using mischmetal and TiCl₄. *Tetrahedron Letters*, 2008, 49, 1373–1375.
- IV. Vellemäe, E., Stepanov, V., Mäeorg, U. A Mild Approach to the Deprotection of Troc from Protected Amines Using Mischmetal and TMSCl. Submitted in *Synthetic communications* 2009 (Submitted, paper number LSYC-2009-3626).

Author's contribution

- **Paper I** Performed all the experimental work and greatest part of the analysis. Prepared the manuscript.
- **Paper II** Performed the experimental work and greatest part of analysis. Prepared the manuscript.
- **Paper III** Performed all of the experimental work and greatest part of analysis. Prepared the manuscript
- **Paper IV** Performed all the experimental work and greatest part of analysis. Prepared the manuscript

ABBREVIATIONS

Ac	acetyl
ACN	acetonitrile
All	allyl
Boc	<i>t</i> -butoxycarbonyl
bp	boiling point
Bz	benzene
Bn	benzyl
Cbz	benzyloxycarbonyl
Ср	cyclopentadiene
CSA	camphor sulfonic acid
DMF	dimethylformamide
Et	ethyl
Et ₂ O	diethyl ether
EtOAc	ethyl acetate
EtOH	ethanol
Ln	lanthanoides
MeOH	methanol
MM	Mischmetal
mp	melting point
MsOH	methanesulfonic acid
Nf	1-naphtyl
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
Ph	phenyl
Pmp	4-methoxyphenyl
r.t.	room temperature
rfx	reflux
Rf	retention factor
HMPA	Hexamethylphosphoramide
Hal	halogene
IR	infrared
Tos	<i>p</i> -toluenesulfonyl
Troc	2,2,2-trichloroethoxycarbonyl
TsCl	tosylchloride
TEA	triethylamine
THF	tetrahydrofurane
TMSCl	trimethylchlorosilane
TMSOTf	trimethylsilyl trifluoromethanesulfonate
TsOH	p-toluenesulfonic acid
US	ultra sound
wt%	mass percent

I. INTRODUCTION

Mischmetal (MM) is an alloy of rare-earth metals of the cerium group with cerium as the major constituent. This material is also called cerium mixed metal [1], mischmetal [2], cerium complex metal or rare earth MM and cerium MM [3]. A typical composition includes approximately (by mass) 45-55% cerium and 15-25% lanthanum, neodymium 10-20% and praseodymium 5-10% with small amounts of other metals also present in the alloy [4].

MM was first produced industrially in 1908 by Auer von Welsbach [4], who succeeded in finding an outlet for surplus rare earth material left from the production of lighter flints. From that point onward MM found several applications in industrial chemistry, especially in the metallurgical industry. Approximately 90% of the whole production of MM was used in the steel making [4].

The use of rare earth metals and their compounds in organic chemistry has grown considerably during the past 30 years [5] with samarium, cerium, lanthanum, ytterbium, neodymium, dysprosium metals/salts being the most studied ones [6]. These elements clearly differ in terms of reactivity from magnesium, zinc and copper – the metals, what has been applied in organic synthesis for more than 100 years [5]. However, the drawback of the use of lanthanoids in organic synthesis is the high price of pure metals or their compounds, causing significant efforts to be directed into finding cheaper alternatives. One way to reduce the cost of the process is the use of cheap MM instead of expensive pure lanthanoids (Sm, Nd) or their salts, such as SmI₂ [5,6]. This should profoundly reduce the cost of reactions without significant changes in the results. Despite the progress made in applying MM for the organic synthesis [6,7], its main use is a together with expensive Sm or SmI₂ to reduce the amounts of later. However, there are very few examples of the neat MM used as the main reagent or reductant that have been reported so far [6, 8–11].

Thus, main goal of this doctoral thesis was to investigate usability of the MM as a main reagent in various applications in the organic synthesis, where MM has been activated with easily available activators such as TMSCl or TiCl₄ with simple, reproducible and cheap procedure.

2. LITERATURE OVERVIEW

2.1. General information of mischmetal (mm)

MM is mainly an alloy consisting of first four lanthanoid metals in various naturally occurring proportions. This material is also called cerium mischmetal, cerium complex metal, rare earth mischmetal or mischmetal [1–4]. A typical composition includes approximately 45-55% cerium, 15-25% lanthanum, 10-20% neodymium and 5-10% praseodymium with small amounts of other metals by mass [4]. In the following table (Table 1) are shown the composition of MM, which have been produced in different countries [4].

Metal ^a	Austria	USA	Japan	Brazil	Russia	China
La	23	18–28	23	18	25	20
Ce	50	50-55	52	55	53	55
Pr	5	4–6	5	7	5	6
Nd	19	12-18	16	17	14	17
Sm	0,2	<0,1	_	_	_	_
Other	3	<2	4	5	3	2

Table 1. Composition of MM, produced in various countries

^a – composition of lanthanoids are given in mass percents

Historically, MM was prepared from monazite LnPO₄, an anhydrous phosphate of the light lanthanoids and thorium. The ore was first "cracked" by a reaction at high temperatures with either concentrated sulfuric acid or sodium hydroxide [2]. The electrolysis of those molten anhydrous lanthanoide chlorides (mixed with other anhydrous halides to improve the melt behaviour) led to the formation of molten MM, which would be then cast into ingots. Any samarium content of the ore tended not to be reduced to the metal, but accumulated in the molten halide, from which it could be later profitably isolated. Currently, the high demand for neodymium has made it profitable to remove all of the heavier lanthanoids and neodymium (and sometimes all of the praseodymium as well) from the natural-abundance lanthanoide mixture for separate sale, and to include only La-Ce-Pr or La-Ce in the most economical forms of MM [2]. Thus, cheapest grade MM is typically priced at less than 10 dollars per kilogram [1].

In the beginning of 20th century scientists began searching for applications where rare-earth metals could be utilised in. Among the first discoveries/ inventions to bear practical fruits turned out to be lighter flint and the MM in steel production which remain in use even a century later [2,4].

While MM has found several applications in the industrial chemistry since the beginning of the 20th century [4], its first use in organic synthesis had to wait until 1999 when it was applied as a co-reductant in the catalytic Barbier type reactions [1]. The following sections describe the properties of MM and its applications in greater detail.

2.2. Properties of MM

MM is ductile metal alloy, easily machinable and workable, MM may be easily extruded at temperatures just below its melting point (mp 780 - 840 °C). The freshly cut surface has a metallic grey/shiny appearance. In moist air, the surface oxidizes to form yellow to greenish-grey rare-earth hydroxide carbonates or oxide hydrates. Some oils can protect the surface against corrosion, but only for a limited period of time. Alloying with 1-2 wt% of magnesium increases the corrosion resistance. Ingot metal burns above 150 °C in pure oxygen, however chips, turnings and powder burn at this temperature even in air producing oxides and nitrides. MM reacts in dilute mineral acids, accompanied by the evolution of hydrogen. However, the pyrophoric character of MM may cause autoignition of the finely divided metal [4].

The physical and chemical properties of MM are being determined by the properties of its four main constituents: cerium, lanthanum, neodymium and praseodymium. In the following table (Table 2) are shown the main physical properties of Ce, La, Nd and Pr [2].

	La	Ce	Pr	Nd
Density, g/cm ³	6,12	6,77	6,77	7,01
Melting point, °C	920	804	935	1024
Boiling point, °C	3470	3470	3017	3210
Valence in aqueous solutions	3	3 or 4	3	3
Colour of M ³⁺ ion	colourless	colourless	yellow-green	pink

Table 2. Main physical properties of La, Ce, Pr and Nd

Lanthanoids are very reactive metals and their activity could be compared to the alkaline earth metal such as Sc or Y [2]. All the rare earth metals readily react in dilute mineral acids with evolution of hydrogen. Reaction of the metal by concentrated sulfuric acid is some extent less active. The lanthanoids does not react with hydrofluoric acid because thin film of LnF_3 forms on the surface of the metal and protects it from further attack by the acid. A mixture of equal parts of concentrated nitric acid and concentrated hydrofluoric acid attacks most rare-earth metals only superficially, except tantalum, and thus may be used to purify corresponding alloys or separate tantalum from it. Lanthanoides also react with organic acids, but at considerably slower rates than with mineral acids at the same concentration [2].

The reaction rate of rare earth metals with water varies depending on the metal. Generally light rare earth metals react with water, slowly at room temperature and vigorously at higher temperature. The high standard reduction potential (E° is -2,4 up to -2,1 V) indicate that each of the rare earth elements is

a powerful reducing agent in aqueous acidic solution and forms the 3+ ion readily [2,12].

Reaction of halogens with lanthanoides gaves LnX_3 irrespective of the metal, but with the reaction of F_2 in case of Ce, Pr and Tb the corresponding tetrafluorides are formed. The general route to LnX_3 is the reaction of Ln_2O_3 with aqueous HX, resulting in the hydrated halides, $LnX_3(H_2O)_x$ (x = 6,7) [13]. The anhydrous chloride is usually made by dehydrating $LnCl_3(H_2O)_x$ using SOCl₂ or NH₄Cl at low pressures and moderate temperatures [5]. Also it is possible to produce lanthanoide chlorides in the laboratory conditions and avoiding the high temperatures by sonication of metal powder with hexachloroethane in anhydrous THF or by reacting the lanthanoide with mercury(II)chloride in anhydrous THF. In reactions where lanthanoide halides are formed in THF, the corresponding salts also contain three molecules of solvent [5]. Lanthanoide(II) halides, especially iodides, are predominant synthetic precursors in preparations of corresponding organometallic reagents [5].

2.3. Applications of MM in industry

The most important uses of MM or cerium are metallurgical. The metallurgical importance of rare-earth metals is based on reactions to form complexes with oxygen, hydrogen, nitrogen, sulfur, arsenic, bismuth and antimony reducing the effects of these elements on the properties the metals [14]. To avoid the formation of harmful rare earth oxide inclusions by secondary reactions of the MM with residual slag and atmospheric oxygen, the MM plunged into the molten metal under an inert gas atmosphere. MM is added as lumps, rods, or wire [15].

2.3.1. Iron and steel

Rare-earth sulfides and oxide sulfides are formed in liquid steel and precipitate as globular particles uniformly dispersed. The globes are deformable during rolling and do not form stringers. This is called sulfide shape control and is used micro-alloyed or HSLA (high-strength low-alloy) steels to reduce anisotropy in toughness and bend formability. This is especially important for pipeline steels that are used at subzero temperature in the Arctic [16].

MM may also trap hydrogen and thus diminish hydrogen-induced cracking. Hot shortness in stainless steel can be reduced by removal of tramp elements (As, Br, Sb) together with sulfides. Heat and oxidation resistance can be increased by MM which forms protective surface layers of rare earth oxides together with oxides of the steel components, for example, Cr_2O_3 that are resistant to scaling and spalling. MM or cerium-containing master alloys are added to cast iron to improve ductility, toughness and microstructure. Cerium allows graphite to form nodules, causing nucleation in spheroid and vermicular cast iron and neutralizes the harmful effect of the tramp elements [17]. The

addition rate depends on the application and preparation of the steel or iron melt. For sulfide shape control and modularization of graphite up to 1 kg of MM per ton is added. Other effects require larger additions, up to 8 kg per ton [17]. Addition of MM to copper alloys improves tensile strength and deepdrawing properties [18,19]. The heat resistance and ductility of aluminum conductor cables are improved without any significant decrease in electrical conductivity. Titanium alloys show higher grade of grain refinement, better mechanical properties and improved corrosion resistance as result of MM additions. The need for improved galvanizing compositions without affecting formability, weldability and paintability led to the development of Galfan, which is the classical zinc-aluminum eutectic alloy (95 with Zn. 5 wt% Al) with 0.05 wt% MM in its composition [20]. In nickel and cobalt-based super-alloys for turbine engines, cerium increases oxidation and sulfidation resistance at high temperatures. Cerium and MM are also used as scrubbers to absorb traces of gas in evacuated devices. MM is said to increase the efficiency of fuel consumption and to decrease CO and NO contents in the exhaust of internal combustion engines if steam is passed through MM spirals before injection into the carburetor [4]. The pyrophoric character of mischmetal alloyed with iron and magnesium is used in flint production and pyrotechnics [20].

2.4 MM in organic synthesis

The applications of MM in organic synthesis are exclusively related to the use of SmI_2 , where it has been used as a co-reductant for the purpose of reducing the amount of expensive SmI_2 used in the reaction. In the last few years some procedures where MM has been applied in the synthesis without SmI_2 have been published. Thus in the next section the overview of those reactions is presented.

Historically the first example where MM has been used in the organic chemistry was the catalytic Barbier type reaction [1] (Scheme 1).



52-91%

RX = CH₂=CH-CH₂-Br, CH₂=CH-CH₂-Cl, PhCH₂-Br and Et-I

Scheme 1

A few years later the same workgroup has published their results concerning the usability of MM/SmI_2 in the Grignard-type allylation and benzylation of

ketones and aldehydes. Catalytic reactions of allylic halides were tested with ketones and aldehydes in the Grignard-type reaction (Scheme 2) [7].



Scheme 2

Marie-Isabelle Lannou *et al.* [21] examined the reactivity of the system MM/SmI_2 in the reactions of less active electrophiles such as esters and lactones. In either case they applied catalytic Barbier-type and Grignard-type approach. They observed that reactions proceeded smoothly and produced corresponding products in good to excellent yields (Scheme 3 and Scheme 4).





 $R_1 = All, Bn$

Scheme 4

During the investigation they found that with an alkyl halide, a catalytic quantity of nickel diiodide must be added in some cases to achieve reactions. It was also found that nickel diiodide is not always necessary, showing that the mischmetall/SmI₂ (catalytic) system can be more reactive than samarium diiodide in stoichiometric amounts [21].

Another application of MM is its use for the pinacol coupling reactions of carbonyl compounds. The pinacol coupling of acetophenone can be readily performed with SmI_2 as a catalyst and MM (activated by treatment with tetrabromoethane) as a co-reductant, produces corresponding pinacols in moderate to excellent yields [1] Scheme 5.



 $R_1 = Ph, t-Bu$ $R_2 = H, CH_3$

Scheme 5

Kagan *et al.* have conducted pioneering work in the field of SmI_2 and YtI_2 mediated Reformatsky-type reactions [22], but no reaction using samarium diiodide in catalytic amounts with MM has been reported before Namy *et al.* [6]. They examined the reactivity of the MM/SmI₂ system in Reformatsky type reactions which gave moderate to excellent yields (Scheme 6).



 $\begin{array}{l} \mathbf{R}_1 = \mathrm{PhCH}_2\mathrm{CH}_2, \ \mathrm{Ph}, \ n\text{-}\mathrm{C}_7\mathrm{H}_{15} \\ \mathbf{R}_2 = \mathrm{H}, \ \mathrm{CH}_3 \\ \mathbf{R}_3 = \mathrm{CH}_3, \ \mathrm{Et}, \ t\text{-}\mathrm{Bu} \\ \mathbf{R}_4 = \mathrm{Et}, \ \mathrm{CH}_3 \end{array}$

Scheme 6

Lannou *et al.* [8] described application of MM trihalide hydrates in Luche– type reductions of α , β -unsaturated ketones instead of classical Luche reagent (NaBH₄/CeCl₃·7H₂O). In that particular reaction MM trihalide hydrates were synthesized in a one-step procedure from the inexpensive alloyed MM before the reaction, which gave moderate to excellent yields (Scheme 7).





Thus MMCl₃ exhibited the same reactivity as cerium trichloride in the sodium borohydride reduction of highly conjugated ketones (Luche-type reduction).

Namy *et al.* [6] described the application of anhydrous MM trihalides (Cl, Br, I) in Imamoto-type reactions with a α , β -unsaturated aldehydes or ketones, which gave corresponding unsaturated alcohols in excellent yields (Scheme 8).



$$\begin{split} X &= Cl, Br \text{ or } I \\ R_1 &= Ph, 2,6,6\text{-trimethyl-1-cyclohexene-1-yl} \\ R_2 &= H, CH_3 \end{split}$$

Scheme 8

They also found that there is no need to use pure lanthanoide halides which have been prepared from pure metals since the use of the alloy leads to the formation of very active complexes and gave same results.

Another variation of these reaction have been developed by Médegan, S. *et al.* [23]. They successfully applied the $MM/[SmI_2/Pd(0)]$ system to mediate the

allylation of ketones using a variety of allylic esters (acetates, carbonates and phosphates) Thus, the catalytic reaction in question has been carried out using SmI_2 and $Pd(PPh_3)_4$ in catalytic amounts together with MM as the co-reductant. They tested those reaction conditions on the large variety of ketones and aldehydes (Scheme 9).



 $R_{1}, R_{2} = -(CH_{2})_{5}, n-C_{4}H_{9}, CH_{3}, n-C_{6}H_{13}, H, Ph, PhCH_{2}CH_{2}$

Scheme 9

Szymoniak *et al.* showed that using MM instead of La or Ce as the reductant gave usually higher yields compared to the use of pure metals. Other applications for MM tribromides and triiodides are in Mukaiyama aldol-type reaction [6], which is an useful tool for the formation of carbon–carbon bonds in organic chemistry and have been extensively developed (Scheme 10).



R = H, p-OCH₃, p-Cl, p-Br, p-NO₂

Scheme 10

The reactions proceed smoothly at room temperature, and reaction times generally depend only on the nature of the substituent in aromatic ring. For electron-withdrawing groups, the reaction can require up to 20 h to proceed to the completion, whereas for electron-donating groups the reaction was complete within an hour.

The growing interest in multicomponent reactions and the elucidation of the mechanism of the Biginelli reaction has led to the development of the various strategies to improve the results [9]. Many of these methods involve use of expensive reagents. Namy *et al.* [9] applied lanthanoide trichloride hydrates and MM in the Biginelli reaction the direct synthesis of 3,4-dihydropyrimidin-

2(1H)-ones. The yields were moderate to excellent when using lanthanoide trichloride heptahydrates derived from MM (Scheme 11).



 $R_1 = Ph, p-MeOC_6H_4, m-BrC_6H_4, p-HOC_6H_4, p-O_2NC_6H_4$

Scheme 11

Szymoniak *et al.* [10] described an interesting method for the trimerization and cyclotrimerization reactions of alkynes through MM and zirconocene based catalysis. Employing the lanthanoide-originated zirconocene reagent makes those reactions possible, which gives corresponding aryls in good to excellent yields (Scheme 12).



the ratio a/b is 1 or 1.5 and overal yield is 67-80%

 $R_1 = Ph, p-MeC_6H_4, p-MeOC_6H_4, 1-naphthyl$

Scheme 12

Szymoniak *et al.* showed that using MM instead of neat La as reductant gave the same results.

Namy *et al.* [11] have also shown that MM is a useful reductant when used together with Cp_2ZrCl_2 in the coupling reactions of imines with alkynes (Scheme 13).



 $Pmp = p-MeOC_6H_4$ $R = Ph, n-C_5H_{11}$

Scheme 13

Thus, based on the short overview, where it has been demonstrated that MM can be used in different ways in the field of the organic synthesis some general features of the alloy can be pointed out:

- 1. MM has been used mainly as a co-reductant along with samarium diiodide in order to reduce amount of the later used in the reaction and it is the most widely applicable co-reductant for that purpose. Moreover, the system MM/SmI₂ can sometimes be more efficient than stoichiometric samarium diiodide or pure lanthanoides themselves [21,23].
- 2. In Luche and Imamoto-type reactions, complex halides prepared from MM show the same efficiency and selectivity or even better results as the pure lanthanoide halides [6,8].

As MM powder can be easily obtained and stored, and is usually more reactive and cheaper than commercially available lanthanoide metal powders, it has full potential to become a very useful reagent in organic synthesis.

2.5 Pinacol coupling of imines

1,2-diamines are valuable synthetic targets, which can be also employed as versatile auxiliaries for asymmetric synthesis [24]. Moreover, these substances are known to be biologically active and of therapeutic importance [25, 26]. Modern approach to the synthesis of these compounds is based on the pinacol-type coupling of imines. The synthesis of 1,2-diamines starts from imines and is mediated by a variety of metals and metal reagents conjunction with their salts such as: Zn/Me₃SiCl [27], TiCl₃/Li [28], Sm/Cp₂TiCl₂[29], SmI₂[30], In/NH₄Cl [31], Al/KOH and Bi/KOH [32], AlBr₃/Pb and TFA [33], HgCl₂/Mg and TiCl₄ [34], Zn [35], Zn/Mg [36], Zn [37], TiCl₄/Mg [38], Mn [39], SmI₂/NiI₂ [40], TiCl₄, Mg/Hg [41], Na, Li, Ba, Al(Hg) Mg(MgI₂) [42], Sm/I₂ [43], YtBr₂ [44], NbCl₄ [45], Sm, Yb(OTf)₃, SmI₂/Yb(OTf)₃ [46]. The overall process for the corresponding reaction is described by the following Scheme 14.



Scheme 14

However, Zn/Cu pair have been applied to conduce a numerous reactions in organic synthesis, such as: in the McMurry reaction [47], in the Reformatsky reaction [48], in the transformation of acid chlorides into aldehydes [49], in the synthesis of five- and six- member heterocycles [50], etc. Still, it is best of our knowledge, that there are only two publications considering Zn/Cu pair in the pinacol type couplind of imines [51, 52].

Pinacol-type coupling of imines to vicinal diamines is in many aspects very similar to the pinacol coupling of carbonyl compounds [53, 54] which has been extensively studied during the last thirty years or so [55]. However, imines are generally less reactive than corresponding carbonyl compounds because of the higher reduction potentials and sterical reasons (substituents at the nitrogen atom), and tend to give simple reduction products mono amines. Reactions with imines are also generally less stereoselective compared to couplings of carbonyl compounds under similar conditions. In addition, vicinal diamines formed are sensitive to oxidative cleavage, especially in the presence of acids or Lewis acids [56]. It has been also observed that diamine dianions are easily cleaved to radical anions [27, 57] and consequently the final yield of diamine depends on the equilibrium between the coupling and the cleavage reactions (Scheme 15).



 $R, R_1 = Alk, or Ar$

Scheme 15

Such reversibility of coupling also shifts the product isomeric ratio to the thermodynamically controlled value [57]. For example, the thermodynamically controlled isomerisation has been used for conversion of *meso*-diamine its *dl*-isomer [27]. Similarly to the pinacol couplings of carbonyl compounds, the imino-pinacol coupling is usually performed with aryl derivatives (in Scheme 20 R, R_1 are Ar). The most common substrates are arylimines derived from arylaldehydes. The amine partner has been varied more, but still simple aryl or alkyl groups are preferred as N-substituents. Highly diastereoselective coupling (towards useful *dl*-isomer) of imines is very rare. Still, there is one example of enantioselective imino-pinacol coupling [51], using an excess of enantiomerically pure camphor sulfonic acid

2.6 Reformatsky reaction

The classical form of the well-known Reformatsky reaction, introduced for the first time in 1887 consists of the zinc-induced formation of β -hydroxyalka-noates from ethyl α -haloacetates in a reaction with aldehydes or ketones [58] (Scheme 16).



Scheme 16

In the Reformatsky-type reaction the organozinc compounds are prepared from α -halogenoesters in the same manner as Grignard reagents. This reaction is possible due to the stability of esters against organozinc reagents. The very low basicity of zinc enolates, does not initiate the proton transfer and the scope of carbonyl addition partners is quite broad. Thus, Reformatsky reactions have been recognized as one of the most useful methods for the formation of carbon–carbon bonds, because it proceeds under neutral conditions. Therefore this reaction became a valuable tool in modern organic synthesis with a broad applicability and great versatility in numerous inter- and intramolecular reactions involving a great variety of electrophiles. Also in recent years many articles have been published where Zn has been substituted with other metals [59]. The next section presents a short overview of those reactions.

Dubey A. K. *et al.* found that simple and very efficient procedure of performing Reformatsky reaction of aldehydes is to carry it out in the THF in the presence of low valent iron or copper that were prepared in situ, employing a bimetal redox strategy through reduction of FeCl₃ or CuCl₂*2H₂O with Mg [60] (Scheme 17).

$$R_{1}CHO + BrCH_{2}COOEt \xrightarrow{FeCl_{3} \text{ or } CuCl_{2}*2H_{2}O, Mg} THF, rt \xrightarrow{OH} CH_{2}COOEt$$

 $R_1 = C_6H_{13}$, *n*-C₉H₁₉, Ph, p-(*i*-Pr)C₆H₄, p-MeOC₆H₄

Scheme 17

The reaction time is quite long, up to 8 hours, but the yields are 70 to 84 %.

Baba, A. *et. al.* applied indium in the Reformatsky reaction with α -hydroxyl ketones. The corresponding reaction conduced in the THF at room temperature and presence of ultrasound [61] (Scheme 18).



Scheme 18

The reaction time is up to 12 hours, yields are variable, from 10 to 87%.

Philippe Karoyan, P. *et al.* reported their findings on a new and highly efficient general strategy for the synthesis of α -amino acids by homologation of R-amino acids via Reformatsky reaction, with yields from 10 to 87% (Scheme 19) [62].



 $R_1 = CH_3$, *i*-Bu, PhCH₂, CH₂CO₂, *t*-Bu

R3 = Me, *i*-Pr, t-Bu, c-pentyl, *n*-C₅H₁₁

Scheme 19

2.7. Cleavage of Troc group from amines and hydrazines

The Troc group has been introduced into organic synthesis by Woodward in 1966 [63] for use in the peptide chemistry. It is a stable protecting group, which can be easily used for the masking of hydroxy and amino groups [64]. Therefore the Troc has been often used in the synthesis of biologically active compounds such as Apratoxin A [65], Isotaxel [66], aminoacridines [67], etc. Troc group also allows selective protection of hydrazines in the presence of other protecting groups and it is possible to proceed with an orthogonal stepwise cleavage of Troc followed by substitution by another reagent [68]. This is a very useful feature that can be utilized in the preparation of protected hydrazines [68], hydrazino acids and azapeptides [69]. According to the originally published Troc cleavage method [63] that is still being actively used today, the removal is carried out via reductive elimination process using Zn dust in 90 % aqueous AcOH. Thus, the classical deprotection conditions do not allow easily reducible or acid-sensitive groups to be retained in substrates [70]. In addition, we have sometimes observed small amounts of by-products formed during the cleavage of the Troc group from Boc(Cbz)N-N(Troc)Boc, when treated with Zn in AcOH [68]. In order to prevent side reactions and to find better reaction conditions several modifications of the original method have been proposed - the reduction using Zn-Cu in AcOH, Zn-Pb in AcOH, Cd-Pb couple in AcOH, Cd in AcOH-DMF [64]. However these methods still need acidic reaction media to cleave the Troc group.

As opposed to the methods mentioned above, several new methods have been published in recent years where Troc group has been cleaved under neutral conditions and in moderately polar solvents such as Zn in MeOH, Zn-Cu or Zn-Ag couples in MeOH, Zn in THF-H₂O, Na-Hg alloy in THF-MeOH [71]. Most of those new methods utilize zinc or its couples as the reducing reagent, but due to variable quality of commercially available zinc powder, the reproducibility of these procedures tend to be low.

In the recent years a few methods were published where Troc group was removed in the pH-neutral conditions, using for example In/NH_4Cl in EtOH-H₂O [70] mixture, or using Zn-*N*-methylimidazole in ethyl acetate or acetone [72]. Also, numerous papers have been published in the recent years where lanthanoides and corresponding salts were used for this purpose, including SmI₂ in THF has been applied to remove Troc group [71]. It has been also published a methods for removal of Troc group by $(Bu_3Sn)_2$ in benzene or DMF under microwave radiation [64]. Regardless of good yields of some methods mentioned and the reagents used for this purpose are notably expensive (In, SmI₂). Also another problem still remains, those procedures were applied exclusively in the absence of other well-known protecting groups such as Cbz, Boc, Tos and Ac.

2.8 Deprotection of Tos group from amines

Sulfonamides, including para-toluenesulfonyl, are one of the most stable protective group [71] for the reactive N-H moiety. The utility of the N-tosyl group as a removable protecting group for the amino function has been shown in organic synthesis for long time[71]. This group is stable under various experimental conditions like catalytic hydrogenation, treatment with acids, bases or reductants commonly used for the removal of other protective groups. This stability contributes to its usefulness, but makes N-tosyl group quite difficult to remove [73]. Most often the solution of metallic sodium or, alternatively, a solution of lithium in liquid ammonia is requied [74, 75]. Consequently with such drastic conditions being used, serious side reactions have been reported and the yields of regenerated free amine are poor [76]. The Tos group has also been cleaved by employing solution of NaAlH₂(OCH₂CH₂OCH₃) or LiAlH₄ in toluene [77]. The other most widely used strategy for cleavage of Tos group is based on acid hydrolysis, however that requires high concentration of mineral acid at elevated temperatures for extended periods of time. Used approaches include HBr and P [78], HClO₄ in AcOH [79], HF-Py in anisole [80], 48% aq. HBr and phenol, 30% HBr in AcOH [81].

Thus, with classical deprotection methods requiring vigorous or even brutal reaction conditions, those methods cannot be considered as "convenient" for the cleavage of Tos group. In order to prevent side reactions and to find better reaction conditions several new methods have been published where the Tos group has been cleaved under milder condition using following approaches: Linaphtalenide in THF [82], Li and p-di-t-butylbifenyl in THF [83], Na in 2propanol [84], Mg in MeOH with sonication [85], Na(Hg) in MeOH [86], TiCl₃ and Li in THF [87]. Most of those new methods still utilize metallic alkali metals like Li or Na or highly reactive compounds such as LiAlH₄, and are not suitable methods for molecules that include easily reducible moieties/(functional groups). Moreover, in order to complete deprotection reaction without significant formation of the side products, the methods require deep cooling of the reaction mixture – Li-naphthalenide or Li with p-di-t-butylbifenyl in THF need to be cooled to -78° C [82]; or alternatively, they need high temperatures and/or long reaction times to accomplish the deprotection reaction. For example, when using NaAlH₂(OCH₂CH₂OCH₃) in order to remove Tos group, the reaction requires approximately 20 h reflux in toluene [77]. While some of the reported methods allow then the removal of Tos group at room temperature, those methods require long reaction times for the cleavage of Tos group in good yield. For example when using Li and TiCl₃ in THF, it takes approximately 18 h in THF at room temperature for reaction to proceed to completion [87]. Other methods that removing the Tos group very quickly at room temperature have also been reported [85], but the procedure was used exclusively in the presence of other well known protecting groups such as Boc-, Z- or Ac-, all of which activate amines. Unfortunately this method does not work with aromatic and aliphatic amines [85, 88] not containing activating groups mentioned above. Numerous papers have been published recently where lanthanoides and their salts were adapted for the cleavage of the Tos group [89, 90]. Regardless of good yields of some methods mentioned, the reagents employed are either rather expensive (SmI_2) [90] or possess remarkable hazard to environment and human health (Na/Hg).

3. AIMS OF STUDY

- 1. To find good activator and cheap activation method for MM and test these conditions in the imino-pinacol type reaction and also compare the obtained results with other metal reagents such as Zn/Cu couple and Devarda alloy.
- 2. Investigate the usability of the mild activation conditions in the Reformatsky type reactions, especially the addition of the ethyl-bromoacetate into the azocompounds. Also explore the reduction properties of MM/TMSCl system.
- 3. Investigate usability of MM/TMSCl system for selective cleavage of Troc protecting group from various Troc-protected substrates and study the influence of the other well-known protecting or functional groups (such as Boc,- Cbz-, Ac-, Tos-, MeO-, -COOEt, -COOH, and -CN) on the cleavage reaction.
- 4. Investigate usability of TiCl₄/MM system for selective cleavage of the Tos protecting group from the various Tos-protected substrates and to study the influence reaction presence of other well know protecting or functional groups such as Boc-, Cbz-, Ac-, Tos-, MeO- and -COOH to the cleavage.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 MM, Zn-Cu couple and Devarda alloy as Active reagents for the pinacol coupling of imines[I]

When this investigation was started, there was only one paper where MM has been used in the organic synthesis, particularly in pinacol-type condensation of carbonyl compounds [1]. In that publication MM was used, but it has been previously activated by SmI_2 that is quite expensive. The main purpose of this project was to find alternative activator and cheap method of activation for MM and to apply those conditions for pinacol-type reaction of imines. Under typical conditions, two diastereomeric 1,2–diamines and the reduction product of C=N bond are obtained as shown on Scheme 20.



Scheme 20.

For pinacol coupling of imines a lot of reagents (see the section 2.5 Coupling of imines p. 19), has been used, but most of those methods utilize expensive reagents such as SmI₂ [30], In [31], SmI₂/NiI₂ [40] *etc.* Also, the quality of cheap commercially available zinc powder are variable and the reproducibility of these procedures tends to be low. Thus, cheap and good method for pinacol coupling of imines are still absent.

Therefore, our goal was to investigate the usability of MM for the synthesis of 1,2-diamines and compare the results with other cheap reagents such as Devarda alloy and Zn/Cu couple was also studied. However, Devarda alloy (Al 45%, Cu 50% and Zn 5%) is widely used in the analytical chemistry [91, 92], but it surprisingly has not found any synthetic application yet.

In order to achieve the simplest reaction conditions and based on the known properties of light lanthanoides (see section 2.2, p. 11) at the beginning some experiments were carried out without activators at all. The MM and N-benzylideneaniline was refluxed in THF or EtOH (under inert gas atmosphere) for several hours, however no reaction was observed. For initiation of the coupling process a number of different activators were studied. The results of these experiments are summarized in Table 3.

Entry	Starting	MM, g	Solvent and	Reaction	Activator	Conver-
	imine, g		reaction temp.	time, h		sion,
						%
1	0.25	0.5	EtOH, rfx	2.5	-	0
2	0.25	0.5	THF,rfx	2.5	-	0
3	0.25	0.5	THF, rfx	0.7	US	0
4	0.25	0.5	THF, rt	1	US	0
5	0.15	0.3	EtOH, rt	4	US	0
6	0.15	0.3	EtOH, rfx	2.5	US	0
7	0.25	0.5	THF, rfx	2	36% HCl, 0.1 ml	<30
8	0.25	0.5	EtOH, rfx	2	$CuCl_2 \times 2H_2O, 0.13g$	Traces
9	0.25	0.5	THF, rfx	2	Dest. H ₂ O, 0.025 ml	0
10	0.15	0.3	EtOH, rfx	2	I ₂ , 0.03 g	0
11	0.15	0.3	THF, rfx	3	I ₂ , 0.03 g	0
12 ^a	0.15	0.3	THF, rfx	3	MM _x I _y , 0.03 g	0
13	0.15	0.3	THF, rfx	3	TMSCl, 0.18 ml	>99
14	0.15	0.3	THF, rfx	3	TiCl ₄ , 0.1 ml	50 ^b
15	0.15	0.3	THF, rfx	3	Ni(OAc) ₂ 0.03 g	0
16	0.15	0.3	THF, rfx	3	ZnCl ₂ , 0.03g	0
17	0.15	0.3	THF, rfx	3	CoCl ₂ , 0.03g	0
18	0.25	0.5	THF, rfx	2	NiI ₂ , 0.07g	<30
19	0.15	0.3	THF, rfx	2	Ce(OBu) ₄ , 0.07g	0

Table 3. Pinacol coupling of N-benzylideneaniline by MM with different activators

 $a - MM_xI_v$ (prepared according to the procedure in [31]

^b – approximately 50 % of reduction product was also observed

Thus, based on the results of those experiments, the trimethylsilyl chloride (TMSCI) was found to be the best activator. The reactivity of the majority of other "activator" compounds was either lower or entirely absent. The reaction was conducted in the THF and before the 1 eq. imine was added, the 2.6 eq. MM was activated with 1.6 eq. of TMSCI by refluxing the mixture 30 minutes under argon. However, THF has been widely used solvent in the organic synthesis, but still it is not very convenient one, because it is highly flammable and gives easily highly-explosive peroxides on storage in air. Therefore several alternative solvents were tested and the N-benzylideneaniline was used again as a starting imine. The results are outlined on the Table 4.

Entry	Starting imine, g	MM, g (mmol)	Solvent ^a	Time of	Conversion,
	(mmol)			reaction, h	%
1	0.25 (1.4)	0,5g (3.5)	CH ₃ CN	6	50
2	0.25 (1.4)	0,5g (3.5)	dry THF	6	0
3	0.25 (1.4)	0,5g (3.5)	CH ₂ Cl ₂	6	0
4	0.25 (1.4)	0,5g (3.5)	CHCl ₃	6	0
5	0.25 (1.4)	0,5g (3.5)	n-C ₆ H ₁₄	6	0
6	0.25 (1.4)	0,5g (3.5)	Ph-CH ₃	6	0
7	0.25 (1.4)	0,5g (3.5)	Et ₂ O	6	0
8	0.25 (1.4)	0,5g (3.5)	THF + 1eq.	1.5	>99
			H ₂ O		

Table 4. The influence of solvents in pinacol coupling of N-benzylideneaniline^a

^a – all the reactions were performed under argon atmosphere at reflux conditions

Based on the results obtained (Table 4 p. 28), the solvents other than THF were not appropriate for pinacol coupling. The importance of water in pinacol coupling of N-benzylideneaniline with MM in THF was also discovered. Indeed, unexpectedly the pinacol coupling did not occur in dry THF. During the studies it was found that in order to start the coupling reaction it was necessary to add 1.0 eq of H₂O for the initiation of the coupling process. Without water no reaction occurred even after refluxing the reaction mixture with activated MM for several hours. In order to understand the reaction pathway better, the coupling reaction was studied with D₂O instead of H₂O. The product was isolated and characterized by ¹H, ¹³C NMR and FTIR spectroscopy. The spectral data were essentially the same as the product obtained in typical procedure. Evidently, H₂O reacts with TMSCl and the formed HCl is responsible for MM activation. To confirm the assumption, an equivalent amount of HCl in dioxane was used instead of water and that resulted in full conversion.

The work-up technique was found to be crucial. Common liquid–liquid extraction caused remarkable decomposition of the 1,2-diamines back to imines probably due to their prolonged contact with MM chlorides left in the solution. The, cleavage of C-C bond in 1,2-diamines is known to be induced by the atmospheric oxygen in the presence of Lewis acids [56]. In order to hold back the decomposition and to retain the diastereomeric ratio of product, column chromatography was used. No inversion of the diastereomeric ratio was noticed during the work-up.

The results of the pinacol coupling of several aldimines mediated by MM, Zn-Cu couple and Devarda alloy under appropriate reaction conditions are outlined in the Table 5.

Entry	Compound	Reaction time, min			Crude yield % (2+3)		
		MM	Zn/Cu	Dev ^a	MM	Zn/Cu	Dev
1	Ph-CH=N-Ph	90	40	120	>99	77	89
2	p-MeO-Ph-CH=N-Ph	60	10	180	87	63	37
3	Ph-CH=N-CH ₂ -Ph	40	60	50	40	90	39
4	Ph-CH=N-Ph-m-OMe	90	60	-	89	<99	_
5	Ph-CH=N-Ph-p-OMe	90	25	100	87	47	6
6	o-HO-Ph-CH=N-Ph	60	30	45	14	71	13
7	Ph-CH=N-Nf	90	15	360	11	58	0
	ntry Compound						
Entry	Compound	d,l: me	so ratio		Reduc	tion pro	duct(3)
Entry	Compound	<i>d,l: me</i> MM	<i>so</i> ratio Zn/Cu	Dev ^a	Reduc MM	tion prod Zn/Cu	duct (3) Dev
Entry 1	Compound Ph-CH=N-Ph	<i>d,l: me</i> MM 1,1:1	zso ratio Zn/Cu 1:3.4	Dev ^a 1:2.4	Reduc MM 0	tion prod Zn/Cu 0	duct (3) Dev 0
Entry 1 2	Compound Ph-CH=N-Ph p-MeO-Ph-CH=N-Ph	<i>d,l: me</i> MM 1,1:1 1,2:1	zso ratio Zn/Cu 1:3.4 1:1.2	Dev ^a 1:2.4 1:2.6	Reduct MM 0 0	tion prod Zn/Cu 0 0	duct (3) Dev 0 0
Entry 1 2 3	Compound Ph-CH=N-Ph p-MeO-Ph-CH=N-Ph Ph-CH=N-CH ₂ -Ph	<i>d,l: me</i> MM 1,1:1 1,2:1 1:11	zso ratio Zn/Cu 1:3.4 1:1.2 99>1	Dev ^a 1:2.4 1:2.6 1<99	Reduct MM 0 0 0	tion prod Zn/Cu 0 0 0	duct (3) Dev 0 0 0
Entry 1 2 3 4	Compound Ph-CH=N-Ph p-MeO-Ph-CH=N-Ph Ph-CH=N-CH ₂ -Ph Ph-CH=N-Ph-m-OMe	<i>d,l: me</i> MM 1,1:1 1,2:1 1:11 1,1:1	zso ratio Zn/Cu 1:3.4 1:1.2 99>1 1:2.7	Dev ^a 1:2.4 1:2.6 1<99 -	Reduct MM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	tion prod Zn/Cu 0 0 0 0	duct (3) Dev 0 0 0 0 -
Entry 1 2 3 4 5	Compound Ph-CH=N-Ph p-MeO-Ph-CH=N-Ph Ph-CH=N-CH ₂ -Ph Ph-CH=N-Ph-m-OMe Ph-CH=N-Ph-p-OMe	<i>d,l: me</i> MM 1,1:1 1,2:1 1:11 1,1:1 1,1:1	zso ratio Zn/Cu 1:3.4 1:1.2 99>1 1:2.7 1<99	Dev ^a 1:2.4 1:2.6 1<99 - 99>1	Reduct MM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	tion prod Zn/Cu 0 0 0 0 0 0	duct (3) Dev 0 0 0 0 - 0
Entry 1 2 3 4 5 6	Compound Ph-CH=N-Ph p-MeO-Ph-CH=N-Ph Ph-CH=N-CH ₂ -Ph Ph-CH=N-Ph-m-OMe Ph-CH=N-Ph-p-OMe o-HO-Ph-CH=N-Ph	<i>d,l: me</i> MM 1,1:1 1,2:1 1:11 1,1:1 1:2 99:1	zso ratio Zn/Cu 1:3.4 1:1.2 99>1 1:2.7 1<99 1.2:1	Dev ^a 1:2.4 1:2.6 1<99 - 99>1 2.2:1	Reduct MM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	tion proc Zn/Cu 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	duct (3) Dev 0 0 0 0 32
Entry 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	Compound Ph-CH=N-Ph p-MeO-Ph-CH=N-Ph Ph-CH=N-CH ₂ -Ph Ph-CH=N-Ph-m-OMe Ph-CH=N-Ph-p-OMe o-HO-Ph-CH=N-Ph Ph-CH=N-Nf	<i>d,l: me</i> MM 1,1:1 1,2:1 1:11 1,1:1 1:2 99:1 1,1:1	so ratio Zn/Cu 1:3.4 1:1.2 99>1 1:2.7 1<99 1.2:1 1:1.2	Dev ^a 1:2.4 1:2.6 1<99 - 99>1 2.2:1 -	Reduct MM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 48	tion proc Zn/Cu 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6	duct (3) Dev 0 0 0 0 0 32 4

Table 5. Pinacol coupling of aldimines with different reagents

Under the conditions employed, mixtures of d_l - and meso-isomers were obtained in comparable amounts, in ratios from 1.2:1 up to 1:1.1. Compounds 3, 5 and 6 afforded excellent diastereoselectivity, furnishing only d,l- or mesoisomer depending on the compound and metal reagent used. These experimental results support the assumption that the structure of substrate and the nature of reducing agent are the most important factors in the control of reaction diastereoselectivity.

The simple C=N reduction was not typical for the majority of studied aldimines, except compounds 6 and 7 where monoamines were detected by ¹³C NMR spectroscopy (see Table 5 p. 29). This can be explained by the relative bulkiness of the intermediate radical anion, hindering the coupling and therefore increasing the extent of the ordinary C=N reduction. The pinacol coupling with MM and Zn/Cu couple occurred smoothly, furnishing the products in moderate to excellent yields (up to 99). However, the same reaction with Devarda alloy generally gave modest yields (<50%), except only N-benzylideneaniline gave 89 % yield. This is interesting, because Devarda alloy also includes active metals such as Al and Zn. The exact reasons why the pinacol coupling of imines with Devarda alloy result in only moderate yields remains unclear, but one explanation could be that TMSCl is not the best activator for the Devarda alloy.

Thus, during this research an extremely simple, cheap and reproducible protocol for the use of MM in the reaction of pinacol coupling of imines has been developed.

4.2. A MM mediated Reformatsky type reaction of azocompounds

The based previous results demonstrated that system MM/TMSCl, worked successfully in pinacol coupling of imines. Therefore, it was proceeded to test those mild conditions in the Reformatsky-type reaction with azocompounds in order to produce directly the corresponding substituted hydrazines. To the best of our knowledge, Reformatsky-type reaction has not been applied yet in such manner. Therefore, it was first needed to study whether the MM/TMSCl system is capable to perform the corresponding Reformatsky-type reaction and if these conditions could be applicable with azocpmpounds. Thus, the acetophenone and ethyl bromoacetate were first tested as a model system with the MM/TMSCl to find out if it is possible to produce corresponding classical Reformatsky-type reaction. It was already known, that the MM needs to be activated before it can be used in the reaction and in order to keep the conditions as simple as possible some very cheap activators were studied, such as BrCH₂CH₂Br, I₂, I₂+TMSCl and TMSCl. The results of these experiments are outlined in the following Table 6.

Entry	PhCOCH ₃ , mmol/	MM,	Activator, mmol	Reaction ^a	Conversion,
-	BrCH ₂ COOEt,	mmol		time (h)	%
	mmol				
1	0.5 / 1	0.7	BrCH ₂ CH ₂ Br, 0.5	0.5	0
2	0.5 / 1	0.7	I_2 (cat.)	1	0
3	0.5 / 1	0.7	I ₂ /TMSCl, cat./0.07	1.5	>99 ^a
4	0.5 / 1	0.7	TMSCl, 0.07	1	>99 ^a
5	0.5 / 1	0.7	BrCH ₂ CH ₂ Br, 0.5	0.5	0
6	0.5 / 1	0.7	I_2 (cat.)	1	0
7	0.5 / 1	0.7	I ₂ /TMSCl, cat./0.07	1.5	>99 ^a
8	0.5 / 1	0.7	TMSCl, 0.07	1	>99 ^a
9	0.35 / 0.7	1.4	TMSCl, 0.07	1	>99 ^a
10	0.35 / 0.7	1.4	TMSCl, 1.4	0.3	>99

Table 6. Activation of MM in Reformatsky reaction

 $a\,-$ In the reactions 3–5 instead of the Reformatsky type additon product a complex mixtures were formed

It was found that the reaction is very sensitive to water. Prior the reaction, the flask was flame-dried and cooled down in the argon atmosphere to the room temperature. When we used $BrCH_2CH_2Br$ and I_2 as an activators in order to activate MM, essentially applied the activation procedure published before [6]. However, those activation methods were not effective to activate MM in our case. However, TMSCl was found to be the best activator for activating the MM and the best results were obtained when the ratio of acetophenone, ethyl

bromoacetate, MM and TMSCl was 1:2:4:4. Thus, after optimizing the reaction conditions, other ketones were subjected to the reaction conditions described above (see entry 6, Table 6 p. 30). The results are outlined in Table 7.

Entry	Starting compound	Product	Reaction	Crude yield,
			time, h	%
1	Q	ОН О	0.3	<99
		Ph		
		H ₃ C		
2	0	Ő	1	24
		HO HO		
3	O U	OH Q	3	-
	Ph Ph			
		Ph		

Table 7. Reformatsky type reaction of MM with different ketones

The best results were obtained with acetophenone (99% yield of crude product). In case of cyclohexanone, the conversion was >99%, but the crude yield remained moderate. Also, it was surprise that benzophenone did not react at all supposedly due to large sterical hindrance around the reaction centre. Taking into account that the classical Reformatsky-type reactions with carbonyl compound were not our primary goal, we did not expand the scope of the reaction by using other ketones and did not optimize the separation procedure. Based on the some previously explored examples, it was confirmed that MM activated by TMSCl was able to perform Reformatsky-type reaction. A set of azocompounds what included electron withdrawing and electron donating substituents subjected to those reaction conditions described above. The results are outlined in the Table 8.

Entry	Starting compound	Reaction	Products
5		time, (h)	
1	Boc-N=N-Boc	1.5	Boc-NH-NH-Boc + Boc-NH-N(TMS)-
			Boc ratio (1:1)
2	Cbz-N=N-Ph	0.5	Cbz-NH-N(TMS)-Ph
3	Cbz-N=N-Boc	2	Cbz-NH-NH-Boc + Cbz-NH-N(TMS)-
			Boc
			ratio (1:1.5)
4	Boc-N=N-Ph	0.5	Boc-NH-N(TMS)-Ph
5	Ph-N=N-Ph	1	Ph-NH-NH-Ph + Ph-N(TMS)-N(TMS)-Ph
			ratio (1.5:1)
6	Tos-N=N-Ph	0.5	Mixture
7	Troc-N=N-Ph	0.5	Mixture
8	Cbz-N=N-Troc	2	Mixture
9	Boc-N=N-C ₆ H ₄ p-NO ₂	0.5	Mixture
10	Ph-NH-N=N-Ph	1.5	Mixture
11	Ph-N=N-C ₆ H ₄ p-NH ₂	1	Mixture
12	Ph-N=N-C ₆ H ₄ p-N(Et) ₂	4	Mixture

Table 8. Reformatsky type reaction of MM with azocompounds

In the course of these studies it has been confirmed that the reaction in itself proceeds smoothly, the reaction times in most cases were less than two hours and the starting materials were completely consumed. However, it was an absolute surprise that among so many azocompounds what was tested, no one of them gave the corresponding Reformatsky-type addition product. Instead of the Reformatsky-type addition product complex mixtures (reactions entry 6–12) and simple hyrdazines or their silvlated forms (reactions entry 1-5) were produced. In order to achieve our goal, some modifications to the reaction conditions were made such as: acetonitrile was used instead of THF, reactions were performed at the room temperature instead of the reflux conditions and also the ratio of MM/TMSCl/BrCH₂COOEt was varied. The modifications affected only the time of the reaction, but not the final outcome. Thus, the attempts to perform the Reformatsky-type reaction with azocompounds were completely unsuccessful. In the course of these studies it was discovered that system MM/TMSCl has a remarkable reduction potential in the very dry aprotic media. Considering this and the used excess of the TMSCl can provide a tangible explanation why complex mixtures were formed. We proposed a following scheme for explanation how that complex mixture could be obtained (Scheme 21).



Scheme 21

In the example nine different products are possible. As was mentioned before the complex mixtures were not analyzed by the NMR, but only by the TLC. In that particular example we detected eight different spots on the TLC plate. Thus, it somewhat gives a distant confirmation of the scheme presented. The presented example was not the exception - the other azocompounds gave similar results.

4.3 Selective method for cleavage of Troc protecting group from hydrazines, amines and amino acids[II,IV]

Based on the previous results of the thesis, where it was discovered that the MM/TMSCl system has powerful reductive properties in the dry aprotic media (in dry THF), the cleavage of Troc group from various protected substrates was investigated subsequently.

The aim of our study was to investigate if it is possible to selectively cleave Troc protecting group in the presence of other well-known protecting groups such as Boc-, Tos-, Ac- and Cbz- groups, in the pH neutral conditions with MM/TMSCl from corresponding protected amines, amino acids and hydrazines (Scheme 22.).



Scheme 22

It was first tried to achieve the cleavage of Troc group under the simplest reaction conditions. The conditions tested were: MM in MeOH with ultrasonic treatment, MM in EtOH in the presence of catalytic amount of HCl, MM in THF in the presence of 1 equivalent of H_2O . All these reactions were performed at room temperature as well as under reflux with relevant solvent. Despite of known reaction of MM with water and alcohols none of these attempts resulted in the cleavage of Troc group. In order to facilitate the deprotection reaction different activators were studied: TMSCl, NH_4Cl and 1,2-dibromoethane. The most efficient cleavage of Troc group was observed when 6.1 equivalents of MM and 9.3 equivalents of TMSCl were used (Table 9 entry 12).

Entry ^a	Compound	MM	Activators (equiv)	Conversion
-	-	(equiv)		%
1	Z-NH-NH-Troc	3.9	TMSC1 (3.8)	<10
2	Ph-NH-NH-Troc	3.8	TMSC1, Br-CH ₂ -CH ₂ -Br (4: 1)	50
3	Z-NH-NH-Troc	3.8	TMSC1, Br-CH ₂ -CH ₂ -Br (4: 1)	50
4	Z-NH-NH-Troc	3.8	TMSC1, Br-CH ₂ -CH ₂ -Br (4: 1.6)	>90
5	Ph-NH-Troc	3.8	TMSC1, Br-CH ₂ -CH ₂ -Br (4: 1,6)	>90
6	p-CH ₃ O-Ph-NH-	3,8	TMSCl, Br-CH ₂ -CH ₂ -Br (4: 1.6)	50
	Troc			
7 ^b	p-CH ₃ O-Ph-NH-	2.0	NH_4Cl , (3)	<30
	Troc			
8	Ph-NH-NH-Troc	3.8	TMSC1, Br-CH ₂ -CH ₂ -Br (4: 1.6)	>90
9	p-CH ₃ O-Ph-NH-	3.8	Br-CH ₂ -CH ₂ -Br (1.6)	0
	Troc			
10	p-CH ₃ O-Ph-NH-	4.5	TMSCl , Br-CH ₂ -CH ₂ -Br (4: 2.3)	>80
	Troc			
11	p-CH ₃ O-Ph-NH-	6.1	TMSCl, $Br-CH_2-CH_2-Br$ (4:1.6)	>90
	Troc			
12	p-CH ₃ O-Ph-NH-	6.1	TMSCl (9.3)	>99
	Troc			
13	p-CH ₃ O-Ph-NH-	6.1 ^c	TMSC1 (9.3)	<10
	Troc			

 Table 9. Optimization of reaction conditions

a. All the reactions performed under reflux in dry THF

b. Reaction entry 7 was performed with MM in EtOH:H₂O (3:2), but the reaction conditions were used as described in reference 70 and experiment was finished after 12 h

c. In the reaction entry 13 only Zn was used and reaction was finished after 4 h

Having first optimized the deprotection conditions, various Troc protected hydrazines as well as some aromatic and aliphatic Troc-protected amines were prepared according to methods previously published [93] and subjected to the deprotection conditions described above (entry 12, Table 9). The results are outlined in Table 10.

Entry	Compound	Product	Reaction	Yield,
			time, h	%
1		NH ₂	2	95 ^b
2	N—Troc H ₃ C	NH-CH3	2	85 ^b
3		H ₃ C NH ₂	3	82
4		NH-NH ₂	3	60
5 ^d		NH-NH ₂	3	83
6		O NH ^{NH} 2	3	>99
7	Boc CI CI CI	Boc NH-NH ₂	2	>99
8	Boc NH—N Ph	Boc NH-NH-	4	56
9	Boc Boc Cl	O NH Boc	2,5	80

Table 10. Deprotection of Troc group from Troc-N compounds

It can be seen that the reaction proceeds smoothly to furnish the corresponding deprotected products. In the course of these studies it was confirmed that the activated MM in THF is capable to remove Troc protecting group in the presence of other common protecting groups such as Boc and Cbz. The cleavage of Troc group was very selective except for compound entry 9 (Table 10, p. 35) where one Boc group was also removed. This result was expected because of the known destabilizing influence of Cbz group towards the Boc group, connected both at the same nitrogen. This phenomenon was demonstrated recently by the cleavage of Boc group from the Boc(Cbz)N-N(CH₃)Boc in MeCN with $Mg(ClO_4)_2$ as a Lewis acid [68]. Other authors [94, 95] have also reported that Boc group undergoes reduction in stability if other protecting groups (Cbz, Boc, Ac) shared the same nitrogen atom and consequently they could be easily cleaved with Lewis acids. During the activation of MM the corresponding lanthanoide chlorides were formed and they act as Lewis acids in cleavage of Boc group. Taking into account this phenomenon, it should be possible to cleave with MM/TMSCl reagent selectively one Boc group from bis-Boc protected amines or hydrazines which include two Boc groups at the same nitrogen atom, but this lies beyond our present goal. Indeed the behaviour of MM under these conditions is interesting, as it allows selective cleavage of Troc group from Troc(Boc)N in substituted hydrazines while Boc group remains unattached. This is a very good example of orthogonality by the cleavage of Troc group. Taking into account that Troc group is generally removed via reductive elimination process, we suppose that lanthanoide chlorides formed during activation of MM, which act as mediators for deprotection of Troc group and MM itself behave as an electron donors. In the presence of water these salts can be hydrolysed effectively quenching the reaction. This could be the explanation why reaction must be conducted in water-free environments. These results were confirmed that MM/TMSCl system is able to cleave Troc group under neutral conditions from hyrdazines. Based on the previous results, where it was successfully demonstrated the ability of MM/TMSCl system in the selective cleavage of Troc group, initiated to study the limits of this method.

The aim of the following study was to explore this mild method when other well-known protecting and functional groups such as Tos, Ac, CN and COOEt are presented in substrate. Various Troc-protected aromatic and aliphatic amines were prepared, according to methods previously published [93] and subjected to the deprotection conditions described above (see entry 12, Table 9 p. 34). The results are outlined in the Table 11.



Table 11. Deprotection of Troc group from substituted amines

a. In the reaction number 3, 4 mmol of MM and 6,2 mmol of TMSCl was used instead of optimized conditions.

b. The yields of the products 9 and 11 were determined after purification of crude product by column chromatography.

c. brine was used for washing the extract instead of distilled H_2O

It shows that reactions proceeds smoothly, yielding the corresponding deprotected products. In the course of these studies was confirmed that activated MM in THF is capable selectively remove the Troc protecting group from aliphatic and aromatic amines in the presence of other well-known protecting groups such as Ac and Tos or presence of other potentially reactive functional groups such as CN and COOEt. The cleavage of Troc group was very selective under mild conditions and ester group, as well as other protecting groups remained unaffected. Behavior of the MM under these conditions is interesting, because it allows for the selective cleavage of Troc group from Troc(Tos)N fragments in substituted amines. The selective cleavage of Troc from Troc(Tos)N moiety is a very good example of the orthogonality of this method.

During this investigation it was found that TMSCl/MM system in THF cleaves Troc group from p-MeO-C₆H₄-NH-Troc considerably faster than in the published method [70], where Troc group was cleaved with In/NH₄Cl in EtOH:H₂O. The reaction times were 3h and 4h respectively. Also, when was compared the reaction speed of p-MeO-C₆H₄-(CH₂)₂-NH-Troc with the compound of p-Br-C₆H₄-(CH₂)₂-NH-Troc from the same work [70], it was found out that TMSCl/MM system cleaves Troc group considerably faster than In/NH₄Cl system. The reaction times for cleavage of Troc group from those compounds were 2h and 3h respectively.

It was also discovered that the rate of cleavage of Troc group from aliphatic or aromatic amines can be influenced by the adjacent protective group. A remarkable acceleration of the cleavage reaction was observed (see Table 11 entries 8, 9 and 10, 11 p. 37) if the Ac group was residing at the same nitrogen as the Troc group. It was expected that Tos group would also bring acceleration effect, similar to one observed in case of the Ac group. However, instead of acceleration, the deceleration effect was observed. (see Table 11 entry 4, 5 and 6, 7 p. 37). Supposedly this discrepancy can be explained by sterical hindrance, as the bulkiness of the Tos group does not allow the easy interaction between MM/TMSCl and the reaction centre. As it was mentioned before, the other authors [94, 95] have demonstrated similar phenomena in case of Boc group, in present work the impact of other protecting groups, like Ac or Boc on the Troc group reactivity was not observed. Usually the cleavage of Troc group with MM/TMSCl system from aromatic or aliphatic amines took about 2 to 3 hours of refluxing in THF, with some exceptions. For example, the cleavage of Troc group from Troc-protected p-aminobenzoic acid was not successful. There is a possibility that substituted benzoic acid could react with MM and form corresponding poorly soluble or even insoluble salts that were adsorbed on the surface of MM and thus interfering the corresponding cleavage reaction. Taking into account that benzoic acid and p-aminobenzoic acid can be converted to corresponding silvl esters [96, 97] by reaction with TMSCl, the amount of MM and TMSCl was increased 1.5 times compared to the optimized deprotection conditions in order to convert p-aminobenzoic acid in situ to corresponding silvl ester and then proceed the cleavage reaction. However, even after this modification the desired reaction did not occur even after refluxing the reaction mixture for 24 hours. Another phenomenon was observed by the cleavage of the Troc group from starting compound entry 8 (see Table 11 p. 37). The reaction for the starting compound entry 9 (see Table 11 p. 37) was complete within 3 hours, but the cleavage of the Troc group from starting compound entry 8, (that is in fact very similar to the starting compound 9,) the reaction proceeded in a very different way. During this particular reaction the MM/TMSCl system did not cleave the Troc group, but instead of this transformed CCl₃CH₂O group into the CH₃CH₂O fragment. This unusual result could be explained by the fact that compound 8a includes cyano group in the conjugated p-position of the aromatic ring, where it could reduce the reactivity of the nitrogen centre and also the reaction time was increased considerably. Thus, low activity of nitrogen centre, presence of active metals and long reaction time at elevated temperatures, could be the reasons why this kind of transformation has taken place. As it was mentioned before, the role of adjacent protecting group could be very important not only for the speed of the cleavage reaction, but can also significantly change the path of reaction.

In summary, it was described that a new mild and cheap deprotection method for cleavage of the Troc group from various substrates using MM/TMSCl system in dry THF was successful. The reactions under these conditions are relatively fast and generally provide high yields. It was also demonstrated that this deprotection method could be successfully utilized for hydrazines and amines in the presence of Boc, Cbz, Tos, Ac, and CN and COOEt groups.

3.4. A mild method for cleavage of N-Tos protected amines using TiCl₄ and MM [III]

Based on the previous successful results of the thesis, where it was demonstrated that the MM/TMSCl system has very selectively cleaved Troc group without cleaving other protecting groups was initiated to study the limits of this method. Thus, those conditions were applied for cleavage of Tos group, which is known as a very stable protecting group and is therefore very difficult to remove in mild conditions. The aim of the new study was to find a fast, cheap and easily reproducible method for the removal of the Tos group from corresponding protected amines, hydrazines and amino acids under mild conditions. Here we report the results of our work where we utilize the MM for this purpose Scheme 23.



Scheme 23

As the first step for the optimization of this process, we applied the same reaction conditions reported in previous chapter. However it did not provide satisfactory results because the reaction with TMSCl proceeded to a sufficient extent only after refluxing the mixture for at least 48 hours. In order to increase the reaction temperature and to accelerate the deprotection reaction 1,4-dioxane was used as a solvent instead of THF. This attempt was unexpectedly unsuccessful – the cleavage reaction did not occur even after refluxing the mixture for 24 hours. In order to accelerate the reaction the influence of different activators was studied: TiCl₄, SnCl₄ and 1,2-dibromoethane. The results of the cleavage of Tos group with differently activated MM are outlined in Table 12.

Entry ^a	Compound	Time,	MM,	Activators, equiv	Conversion ^b ,
		h	equiv		%
1	p-CH ₃ O-Ph-NH-Tos	48	6.1	TMSC1, 9.3	<10
2	p-CH ₃ O-Ph-NH-Tos	48	6.1	TMSCl, 18.2	>90
3 ^b	p-CH ₃ O-Ph-NH-Tos	24	6.1	TMSCl, 18.2	0
4	p-CH ₃ O-Ph-NH-Tos	24	6.1	Br-CH ₂ -CH ₂ -Br, 5.2	0
5	p-CH ₃ O-Ph-NH-Tos	5	6.1	Br-CH ₂ -CH ₂ -Br,	traces
	_			TMSCl, 5.2:6.1	
6	p-CH ₃ O-Ph-NH-Tos	4	6.1	Br-CH ₂ -CH ₂ -Br,	0
				TiCl ₄ , 5.2: 4.1	
7	p-CH ₃ O-Ph-NH-Tos	4	6.1	SnCl ₄ , 3.9	0
8	p-CH ₃ O-Ph-NH-Tos	4	6.1	TiCl ₄ , 2.1	50
9	p-CH ₃ O-Ph-NH-Tos	4	6.1	TiCl ₄ , 4.1	>90
10	p-CH ₃ O-Ph-NH-Tos	2.5	6.1	$TiCl_4(4.9)$	>99
11	Boc-NH-NH-Tos	3	6.1	TiCl ₄ , 4.9	decompose
12	Cbz-NH-NH-Troc	3	6.1	TiCl ₄ , 4.9	decompose
13	n-Bu-NH-Tos	1.5	6.1	TiCl ₄ , 4.9	<99
14	Ph-NH-Ac	1.5	6.1	TiCl ₄ , (4,9)	<99
15	Ph-NH-Ac	24	6.1	TiCl ₄ : H ₂ O, 4.9:1	0

Table 12. Optimization of reaction conditions of the Tos cleavage

^a All the reactions were performed under reflux in dry THF and under argon.

^b in the reaction of 3 1,4-dioxane was used instead of THF.

The most efficient cleavage of Tos group was observed when approximately 6 equivalents of MM and 5 equivalents of TiCl₄ were used (Table 12 entry 10) and when the reaction speed of TMSCl with the TiCl₄ was compared it was noticeable that TiCl₄/MM system cleaves Troc group much faster than TMSCl/MM system. Having optimized the deprotection conditions, we have prepared various Tos protected aromatic amines, some aliphatic amines, hydrazines and amino acids were synthesised according to methods previously published [93] and subjected to the deprotection reaction under conditions described above (entry 10, Table 12). The results of the removal of Tos group are outlined in Table 13.

Entry	Starting compound ^a	Reaction	Product ^b	Yield
		time, h		isolated, %
1	Ph-NH-NH-Tos	3	Ph-NH-NH ₂	23
2	Ph-NH-Tos	8	Ph-NH ₂	99
3	Ph-N(Boc)-Tos	5	Ph-NH ₂	50 ^c
4	Ph-N(Troc)-Tos	4	Ph-NH ₂	97
5	p-MeO-Ph-NH-Tos	2.5	pMeO-Ph-NH ₂	80
6	Ph-CH ₂ -NH-Tos	3	Ph-CH ₂ -NH ₂	$40^{\rm b}$
7	Ph-CH ₂ -N-(Me)-Tos	6	Ph-CH ₂ -NH-Me	45
8	p-MeO-Ph-(CH ₂) ₂ -NH-Tos	2.5	p-MeO-Ph-(CH ₂) ₂ -NH ₂	40
9	(n-Bu) ₂ -N-Tos	3	(n-Bu) ₂ -NH	78
10	N-Tos-(L)Proline	3	HN-(L)Proline	80

Table 13. Deprotection of Tos group with TiCl4/MM in dry THF

^a - yield after purification of crude product by column chromatography.

It can be seen that the reaction proceeds smoothly to furnish the corresponding amino and hydrazino compounds in good to excellent yields. The cleavage of the Tos group when employing the TiCl₄/MM system was relatively fast (usually 3 to 4 hours), and much faster than most of other methods [77,87] and reaction does not require high [77,87] or low [83] temperatures. Another important advantage of this method is that TiCl₄/MM allows the cleavage of the Tos group from non-activated primary and secondary aliphatic amines and also from aromatic amines under neutral reaction conditions. In the course of the studies it was confirmed that the activated MM in THF is capable to remove Tos protecting group in the presence of some other common functional groups such as MeO and Ph. However, the cleavage of Tos group was not very selective. When other well-known and widely used protective groups were present in the starting material, such as Boc, Troc, Cbz, Ac (Table 12 p. 40 and Table 13 p. 41), those groups were also completely removed under reaction conditions described. Two ways of acceleration of the cleavage of Tos group from aromatic amines were also discovered. Such acceleration was observed if in aromatic ring electron donating groups, such as MeO are included or if the same nitrogen atom includes some strong electron-withdrawing groups, such as Boc or Troc (see entry 3,4 and 5, Table 13). Taking this phenomenon into account, it should be possible to increase the speed of the cleavage reaction even further if more potent electron-withdrawing groups are to be used. To summarize, here we have described a new mild and cheap deprotection method for the cleavage of Tos group by using TiCl4/MM system in dry THF. The reactions under these conditions are relatively rapid and, as a rule, provide high vields.

5. EXPERIMENTAL

Equipment and materials

All reactions were conducted under reflux conditions and structures of all the starting compounds were confirmed by ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectroscopy. The progress of the reaction was monitored by TLC, HPLC or GC. Column chromatography was performed using MN Kieselgel 60 (70–230 mesh).

¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were determined on a Bruker Avance^{II} 200 instrument operating at 200 and 50 MHz respectively and TMS was used as reference.

GC analyses were performed on HP 5890A instrument with FID detector, using helium as carrier gas and fused silica capillary column Elite PE-5; $30 \text{ m} \times 0.25 \text{ mm}$.

HR mass spectra were measured with Thermo Electron LTQ Orbitrap ESI mass spectrometer.

IR spectra were measured on Spectrum BXII (Perkin Elmer) FTIR spectrometer with ATR device (Zn-Se), using KBr pellet technique.

HPLC analyses were performed with Watters M6000 isocratic eluent system (MeOH-H₂O 75:25 or 85:15) on colmun Separon SX C18, 250 mm \times 5,6mm.

MM was purchased from Redel-de Haen (50% Ce, 25% La, 16% Nd, 6% Pr).

Pinacol coupling of imines with MM

The freshly filed MM powder 100 mg (0.85 mmol) was added to the 5 ml of dry THF and activated with 180 μ l (1.4 mmol) of TMSCl by refluxing 30 minutes under argon atmosphere. Then, 0.8 mmol H₂O was added, followed by 0.8 mol of imine. When the conversion was complete (monitored by TLC (toluene–EtOAc 12:1 or toluene–EtOAc 10:1) or HPLC), solvent and excess of the TMSCl were removed under reduced pressure. Crude product was purified on the short silica column using dichloromethane as eluent.

Pinacol coupling of imines with Zn-Cu couple

To the freshly prepared suspension of Zn-Cu couple (0.25 g CuCl₂ \cdot 2H₂O was dissolved in hot water, then 1 g Zn powder was added to the solution. The solid was washed twice, with cold ethanol and the obtained material was used freshly) in 5 ml of EtOH imine (0.8 mmol) was added and stirred at ~80 °C. After all the imine was consumed (monitored by TLC (toluene–EtOAc 12:1 or toluene–EtOAc 10:1) or HPLC), the reaction mixture was filtered through a thin layer of silica and evaporated to dryness.

Pinacol coupling of imines with Devarda alloy

To the stirred suspension of 0.25 g (5.3 mmol) Devarda alloy in 5 ml THF 0.18 ml (1,4 mmol) of TMSCl and (0.8 mmol) H_2O was added dropwise, followed by 0.8 mmol of imine. After the reaction was complete (monitored by TLC (toluene–EtOAc 12:1 or toluene–EtOAc 10:1) or HPLC), hot reaction mixture was filtered through the layer of celite directly into the ice-cold NaOH (10%)

solution in order to minimize the contact with possibly acidic inorganic salts. Aqueous layer was extracted 3 times with dichloromethane; organic extracts were washed until the pH was neutral, dried over Na_2SO_4 , and evaporated to dryness.

General procedure for synthesis of imines

In a 100-cm³ round-bottomed flask with a magnetic stirrer, freshly purified aldehyde (0.13 mmol) and aniline (or other amine) were dissolved in the toluene (or EtOH) and resulting mixture was stirred rapidly at room temperature. After few minutes a reaction occurs with evolution of heat and separation of water drops. The mixture was stirred until the starting material was completely consumed. Then the solvent was removed under vacuum and the crude product was purified by crystallization or vacuum distillation

General procedure of Reformatsky type reaction of MM with different ketones or azocompounds

Before the reaction the reaction flask was flame-dried and cooled to room temperature in the argon atmosphere. Then the freshly filed MM powder (1.4 mmol) was added to the 10 ml of dry THF and activated with 0.177 ml of TMSCl (1.4 mmol) by refluxing for 30 minutes under argon. After the activation the heating was turned off and obtained mixture was cooled to 40°C. Then, 0.35 mmol ketone or azocompound followed by 0.7 mmol of ethyl bromoacetate were added dropwise and the reaction mixture was heated again. The process of reaction was monitored by TLC (EtOAc:hexane, usually 4:1 or 2:1). When the starting material was consumed the MM powder was filtered off, the resulting filtrate was diluted with 30 ml Et₂O and extracted with 5% aq. NaHCO₃ (3×15 ml). The combined organic layers were dried with Na₂SO₄. The products of all carbonyl compounds and some silylated hydrazines were confirmed with NMR spectroscopy.

General procedure for cleavage of Troc group from substituted amines

380 mg (2.7 mmol) of freshly, manually filed mischmetal powder (grain size 0.1–0.3 mm) was added to 10 ml of dry THF and activated with 0.52 ml (4.1 mmol) of TMSCl by refluxing for 30 minutes under an argon atmosphere. Then 0.44 mmol of Troc-protected starting compound was added and the obtained mixture was refluxed again. The progress of the deprotection reaction was monitored using TLC (EtOAc:hexane, usually 4:1 or 2:1). Before TLC analyse the sample was quenched with saturated Na₂CO₃. When the reaction was complete the MM powder was filtered off, the resulting filtrate was neutralized with 30 ml of saturated aqueous solution of Na₂CO₃ (or ~ 10% NaOH), stirred for 5 minutes and then extracted with dichloromethane (5×15 ml) and EtOAc (3×15 ml). The combined organic extracts were washed once with 0.2 M aq. citric acid, twice with distilled water (or brine) and then dried over anhydrous MgSO₄. The mixture was filtered and concentrated to dryness;

if purification was needed, the crude product was purified by column chromatography.

Preparation of the new compounds 7 and 8 in the Table 10

Those compounds were prepared according to methods previously published [93].

Spectral data of compound 7 in the table 10.

¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ = 1.48 (s, 9H Me Boc), 4.78 (s, 2 H, Troc), 6.6 (s, 1H, NH, Boc), 7.1 (s, 1H, NH, Troc).

¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): δ = 28.2 (Me, Boc), 75.1 (CH₂, Troc), 82.2 (C_q, Boc), 94.9 (CCl₃), 155.1 and 155.4 (C=O).

HRMS m/z calc. for Na-adduct =328.9839, found =328.9856.

Spectral data of the compound 8 in the table 10.

¹H NMR (CDCl₃): $\delta = 1.45$ (s, 9H, Me, Boc), 4.86 (s, 2H, Troc), 6.60 (s, 1H, NH, Boc), 6.8–6.9/7.1–7.2 (m, 5H Ar).

¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): δ = 28.3 (Me, Boc), 76.3 (CH₂, Troc), 85.3 (C_q, Boc), 93.9 (CCl₃), 113.0, 120.8, 129.2, 148.4 (Ar), 152.9 (C=O, Boc), 156.3 (C=O, Troc). HRMS m/z calc. for Cl-adduct = 416.9942, found = 416.9962.

Preparation of new compound 9 in the Table 11

520 mg (1.77 mmol) of compound 8 (in the table 11 p. 38) and 1.3 ml (7.4 mmol) of DIPEA (N,N-diisopropylethylamine) was added to the 30 ml of acetonitrile. Then 0.5 ml (6.6 mmol) of AcCl was added and the obtained mixture was refluxed overnight under Ar atmosphere. The progress of the reaction was monitored using TLC (EtOAc:hexane, 2:1). When the reaction was complete the solvent was removed and the crude product was purified twice by column chromatography (EtOAc:hexane 1:2 and EtOAc:hexane 2:1). The collected fractions were combined and concentrated to provide 250 mg of desired compound 9. (mp = 58–60 °C). The structure of new compound was confirmed by ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR, IR spectroscopy and HR mass spectrometry.

¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ = 2.71 (s, 3H, CH₃, Ac), 4.74 (s, 2H, CH₂, Troc), 7.28/7.32 (d, 2H Ar), 7.72/7.76 (d, 2H Ar).

¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): 26.3 (CH₃, Ac), 75.6 (CH₂, Troc), 94.1 (CCl₃, Troc), 112.0 (CN), 117.9, 129.7, 133.0, 141.2 (Ar), 151.1 (C=O, Troc), 172.0 (C=O, Ac).

FTIR v (cm⁻¹): 2234 (CN), 1752, (C=O, Troc), 1716 (C=O), 1238 (C-O), 714 (C-Cl)

 $C_{12}H_9Cl_3N_2O_3$ M⁺+H calc. 334.97515, M⁺+H found 334.97495.

Preparation of the new compound 11 in the Table 11

The compound of 11 was prepared essentially the same way as 9, except that instead of DIPEA, DMAP (4-dimethylaminopyridine) was used. The yield after purification was 25%, provided compound 11a (mp = $51-52^{\circ}$ C). The structure

of new compound was confirmed by 1 H NMR and 13 C NMR, IR spectroscopy and HR mass spectrometry.

¹H NMR (CDCl₃): δ = 2.63 (s, 3H, CH₃, Ac), 3.82 (s, 3H, CH₃O) 4.74 (s, 2H, CH₂, Troc), 6.91/6.95 (d, 2H Ar), 7.05/7.09 (d, 2H Ar).

¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): 26.4 (CH₃, Ac), 55.5 (CH₃O), 75.4 (CH₂, Troc), 94.5 (CCl₃, Troc), 114.5, 129.4, 129.9, 152.8 (Ar), 159.4 (C=O, Troc), 172.6 (C=O, Ac). FTIR v (cm⁻¹): 1742 (Troc), 1719 (C=O, Ac), 1246 (C-O-C), 721 (C-Cl). $C_{12}H_{12}Cl_3NO_4 M^+$ +H calc. 339.99047, M^+ +H found 339.99033.

General procedure for deprotection of Tos group with $\rm TiCl_4/MM$ in dry THF

456 mg (3.2 mmol) of the freshly filed MM powder were added to 10 ml of dry THF and activated with 0,24 ml (2,18 mmol) TiCl₄ by refluxing 20–30 minutes under argon atmosphere. Then, Tos-protected starting material (0.53 mmol) was added and the resulting mixture was refluxed for indicated period of time (Table 13). The progress of the deprotection reaction was monitored by TLC (EtOAc: hexane, usually 2:1). Before TLC analyse the sample was neutralized with 2M NaOH. When reaction was complete, the MM powder was filtered off and the resulting filtrate was neutralized with 30 ml of 2M NaOH aqueous solution, stirred for 5 minutes and then extracted with dichloromethane (5×15 ml). The combined organic layers were washed twice with distilled water (or 5% NaCl solution) and dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄. The mixture was then filtered and concentrated to dryness.

6. CONCLUSIONS

The results of the work leading to this thesis can be summarized as follows.

The activation of the MM.

During this research it was found that despite the known reactions of lanthanoides with water or alcohols, MM remains inert even when the reaction mixtures was refluxed for several hours in THF. No reaction was observed. For initiation of the corresponding reactions sets different activators were studied (36% HCl, CuCl₂ ×2H₂O, dest. H₂O, I₂, MM_xI_y TMSCl, TiCl4, Ni(OAc)₂, ZnCl₂, CoCl₂, NiI₂, Ce(OBu)4). Based on the results of those experiments, the trimethylsilyl chloride (TMSCl) and TiCl₄ were found to be the best activators, judging by the corresponding reaction yields. The other compounds that have been tested have shown lower activating property (or none at all).

Pinacol coupling of imines.

In the pinacol coupling reaction of imines the TMSCl was found to be the best activator. During the study several important facts concerning the reaction were discovered and studied. First of all, when using MM as the main reagent in the pinacol coupling of imines, the corresponding reaction occurred only in THF. In other solvents (acetonitrile, toluene, n-hexane, diethyl ether, CHCl₃ and CH₂Cl₂) the reaction did not occur at all. The transformation using the MM and Zn/Cu couple occurred smoothly, furnishing the products in moderate to excellent vields (up to 99%), but the same reaction with Devarda alloy resulted in only modest yields. The simple C=N reduction was not typical for the majority of studied imines. It was found that in case of MM and Devarda alloy in order to the start coupling reaction it was necessary to add small amount of water. Without water no reaction occurred even after refluxing the reaction mixture with activated MM or Devarda alloy for several hours. This is an interesting fact, because in other studies where only MM has been investigated, the water interfered the reaction. Also the separation technique was found to be crucial in case of MM. Prolonged contact of the product with MMCl_x (that act as a Lewis acid) caused decomposition of the product back onto the starting material. In order to decrease the decomposition reaction column chromatography has to be run immediately after the reaction has been completed.

Reformatsky reaction with azocompounds.

First, to the best of our knowledge, the Reformatsky-type reaction has not been applied to the azocompounds yet. Therefore, it was first needed to study whether the MM/TMSCl system is capable to perform the corresponding Reformatsky-type reaction and if these conditions could be applicable with azocompounds. Thus, the acetophenone and ethyl bromoacetate were first tested as a model system with the MM/TMSCl to find out if it is possible to produce corresponding classical Reformatsky-type reaction.

During the course of this study, it was also found that the reaction is very sensitive to water. Thus, prior to attempting to perform Reformatsky-type reaction the reaction flask was flame-dried and cooled to room temperature in argon atmosphere. However, during the research it was found that system MM/ TMSCl was able to perform the classical Reformatsky reaction and the best results were obtained if the ratio of acetophenone, ethyl bromoacetate, MM and TMSCl was 1:2:4:4. In addition some other activation methods were also tested such as: Br-CH₂-CH₂-Br, I₂, but those methods were not activated MM and no reaction occurred.

After finding optimized reaction conditions, it was turned back to primary goal – to perform Reformatsky reaction with azocompounds. Despite the fact that the Reformatsky reaction proceeds smoothly with ketones, it completely refused to work with azocompounds. Instead of the Reformatsky-type addition products mainly complex mixtures and simple hyrdazines or their silylated derivates were formed. It was a surprise, as the reactions were performed in dry THF, where no proton source is present, which is usually necessary for this kind of transformation. Regardless of the problems encountered during the course of the work it was discovered that MM/TMSCl system possesses significant reductive properties.

Selective cleavage of Troc and Tos groups from various N-protected compounds.

During the course of this study the selective cleavage of Troc and Tos protecting groups from corresponding Troc- or Tos-protected hyrdazines, Troc-NH-CH₂-COOEt, amines, and amino acids, presence of other well known protecting groups (Cbz, Boc, Ac) in the THF and at pH neutral conditions through the use of the MM/TMSCl system was investigated. The most efficient cleavage of Troc group was observed when approximately 6 equivalents of MM and 9 equivalents of TMSCl were used. The removal of the Troc group under those conditions was fast and as a rule very selective. Behavior of MM under the reaction conditions is interesting, as it allows for the selective cleavage of Troc group from Troc(Tos)N or Troc(Ac)N in substituted amines while Ac and Tos group remain unaffected, this being a good example of the orthogonality of this method.

It was also discovered that the cleavage rate of the Troc group can be influenced by the adjacent protective group. The acceleration was observed if another deactivating protecting group was residing at the same nitrogen as the Troc group. When we began investigating the possibilities for the cleavage of the Tos group and applied the MM/TMSCl system for that purpose, it did not provide satisfactory results, as reaction times were too long. In order to accelerate the deprotection reaction the change of solvent from THF to dioxane was used, in order to increase the reflux temperature. Those attempts to facilitate the cleavage reaction with the increase of reaction temperature were unsuccessful. In order to cleave Tos protecting group TMSCl had to be substituted with TiCl₄. Taking into account that TiCl₄ is much more reactive than TMSCl, it was generally expected that the selectivity of the reaction will be lover. Indeed, the TiCl₄/MM system, did not cleave only the Tos group, but other protecting groups as well. The cleavage of Tos group when employing the TiCl4/MM system was fast (usually in order of 3 to 4 hours) which is much faster than some other methods and reaction does not require too high or low temperatures. Another important advantage of this method is that TiCl₄/MM allows the cleavage of the Tos group from non-activated or slightly activated primary and secondary aliphatic amines and aromatic amines under neutral reaction conditions. Also, in the course of our work we have confirmed that it is possible to accelerate the cleavage of Tos group from aromatic amines in two ways. Such acceleration is observed if the aromatic ring includes electron donating groups, such as MeO or if some strong electron-withdrawing group, such as Boc or Troc were residing at the same nitrogen atom.

In summary, we have described several new applications of MM in several different reactions. During our work we proved that MM could be successfully applied in the organic synthesis as a main reagent without using expensive reagents such as Sm or SmI_2 and developed corresponding protocols.

7. SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN

Mischmetalli rakendamine orgaanilises sünteesis

Mischmetal (MM) ehk Eesti keeles ka segametallina tuntud sulam on lantanoidide segu, mis on leidnud laialdast kasutamist metallurgias, kuid orgaanilises sünteesis on seda sulamit veel üsna vähe kasutatud. Siiani on MM kasutatud peamiselt kaasredutseerijana, eesmärgiga vähendada kalliste (SmI₂ ja Sm) hulka reaktsioonides. Siiski on juba avaldatud mõni töö, kus MM on kasutatud põhireagendina, kuid neid töid on veel väga vähe.

Seetõttu oli käesoleva doktoritöö eesmärk uurida MM-i kasutusvõimalusi orgaanilises sünteesis põhilise reagendina, ning leida selleks vajalik ning lihtsati reprodutseeritav ja töökindel metoodika, vältides seejuures kalliste regentide kasutamist.

Uurimustöö käigus leiti, et MM on eelnvevalt aktiveerimata inertne ning sulam ei ole sobilik imiinide pinakoolkondensatiooni, Reformatski reaktsiooni läbiviimiseks ega ka kaitserühmade (Troc ja Tos) selektiivseks eemaldamiseks amiinidelt, hüdrasiinidelt, Troc-NH-CH₂-COOEt ja amino hapetelt, teiste tuntud kaitserühmade juures olekul. Mitmete järgi proovitud aktivaatorite hulgast leiti ainult kaks aktivaatorit, mis võimaldasid MM edukalt aktiveerida. Nendeks olid TMSCl ja TiCl₄. Teised aktivaatorid ei suutnud MM kas piisavalt aktiveerida või puudus aktiveeriv toime üldse.

Imiinide pinakoolkondensatsioonil saadi pariamid tulemuisi, kui MM aktiveerimiseks kasutati TMSCl. Uurimistöö käigus ilmnes, et MM abil saab vastavat reaktsiooni läbi viia ainult THF-i keskonnas, ning väikese koguse vee manusel. Ilma veeta seda reaktsiooni ei toimu, isegi kui reaktsioonisegu keeta eelnevalt aktiveeritud MM mitme tunni vältel. Antud tulemus on eriti huvitav, sest teiste reaktsioonide käigus toimis vee lisamine reaktsiooni pidurdavana. Samuti leiti, et produkti eraldamise metoodika on olulise tähtsusega. Selleks, et vältida produkti lagunemist $MMCl_x$ toimel, on vaja peale reaktsiooni lõppu koheselt rakendada kolonnkromatograafiat.

MM rakendati Reformatsky reaktsioonil asoühendite korral, eesmärgiga oluliselt lihtsustada vastavate asendatud hürdeasiinide sünteesi. teadaolevalt pole asoühendite korral Reformatsky reaktsiooni veel rakendatud, mistõttu kasutati optimaalsete reaktsiooni tingimuste välja töötamiseks atsetofenooni ja bromoetaanhappe etüülestrit. Uurimuse käigus leiti, et klassikaline Reformatski reaktsioon toimub süsteemi MM/abil hõlpsasti. Eelnevalt leitud optimaalseid tingimusi rakendati asoühendite korral. Uurimistöö käigus selgus, et asoühendi korral Reformatsky reaktsiooni ei toimu. Oodatud reaktsiooni produktide asemel saadi keerulised ühendite segud, millest mõnel juhul tuvastati vastavaid hürdasiine või nende mono- ja di-silüülitud produkte.

Järgmiseks võeti vaatluse alla Troc ja Tos kaitserühmade selektiivne eemaldamine vastavatelt kaitstud amiinidelt ja hüdrasiinidelt.. Selle eesmärgi täitmiseks kasutati kas MM/TMSCl või TiCl₄/MM süsteemi kuivas THF. Troc rühma eemaldamine toimus väga selektiivselt. Samuti ilmnes, et selle reaktsiooni kiirus sõltub olulisel määral sama lämmastiku juures oleva kaitserühma iseloomust. Samalaadseid efekte täheldati ka Tos kaitserühma korral. Tos rühma edukaks eemaldamiseks oli TMSCl asemel aktivaatorina vaja kasutada TiCl₄. Märgatavalt aktiivsema aktivaatori kasutuselevõtt kiirendas küll soovitud reaktsiooni, kuid langetas olulislet reaktsiooni selektiivsust, st Tos rühmaga koos eemaldati ka kõik ülejäänud kaitserühmad (v.a. – OMe).

Lõpetuseks võib öelda, et selle tööga on näidatud, et MM saab edukalt rakendada orgaanilises süsneesis ning selleks on loodud odav, töökindel ja kergesti reprodutseeritav metoodika.

8. REFERENCES

- 1. Namy, H.; Jean-Louis Namy, J., L. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 2944.
- 2. Gupta, C.K.; Krishnamurthy, N. *Extractive Metallurgy of Rare Earths.*; Taylor & Francis Group, **2005**, 7–56; and references therein.
- 3. http://www.metall.com.cn/cemm.htm?gclid=CMrw3ZLNm5sCFYwVzAodvG1Bjg
- 4. Ullman Ullmann's Enclycopedia of Industrial Chemistry, 5th completely revised ed., vol 6. Weinheim[etc.]: VCH, **1996**,139–151; and references therein.
- 5. Kobayashi, S. Lanthanoides: *Chemistry and Use in Organic Synthesis*. Springer, **1999**, 7–50; and references therein. Troc-is on ka see viide
- 6. Lannou M.L.; He'lion F., Namy J.L. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 10551.
- Di Scala, A.; Garbacia, S.; He'lion, F.; Lannou, M. I.; Namy, J. L. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 2989–2995.
- 8. Lannou, I.; Hélion, F.; Namy. J. L. Synlett 2007, 17, 2707.
- 9. Lannou, M. I.; Hélion, F.; Namy, J.L. Synlett 2008, 1, 105.
- 10. Vasse, J. L.; Szymoniak, J. et. al. Organometallics 2008, 27, 4152.
- 11. Denhez, C.; Me'de'gan, S.; Namy, J. L. Szymoniak, J. Org., Lett. 2006, 8, 2945.
- 12. CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics. 75th Ed., 1993–1995. Lide, D. (ed.) CRC press, Inc. Boca Ration, 1994.
- 13. Sastri, V. S.; *Modern aspects of rare earths and their complexes*, Amsterdam [etc.], Elsevier, **2003**.
- 14. Gschneidner, K. A.; Kippenhan, N. *Thermochemistry of the Rare Earth Carbides, Nitriles and sulfides*, Rare Earh Information Centre Iowa State University, Ames Iowa 1972.
- 15. Reinhardt, K. Addition Techniques of Rare Earth Metals for the Treatment of the Special steels with Rare Earths. in Proc. Rare Earth Res. Conf 12th, **1976**.
- 16. Luyckx, L. A. *The Rare Earth Metals in Steel.* p. 43–78, ACS Ser. no 164, Washington, D.C.; **1981**.
- 17. Zao. B.; Langer, E. W. Scand. J. Metall 1984, 13, 15.
- 18. Raman. A. Z. Meltallkd. 1977, 68, 161.
- Gschneidner, K. A. Rare Earth Alloys. Van Nostrand, Princeton London 1961, p6– 54.
- 20. Radtke, S. F.; Herrschaft, D. C. J. Less-Common Met. 1981, 93, 252.
- 21. Lannou, M. I.; He'lion, F.; Namy, J. L. Tetrahedron Letters 2002, 43, 8007.
- 22. Girard, P.; Namy, J. L.; Kagan, H. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 2693.
- 23. Médegan, S.; Helion, F.; Namy, J.-L. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 4715
- 24. Bennani, Y. L.; Hanessian, S. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 3161.
- 25. Pasini, A.; Zunino, F. Angew. Chem. 1987, 99, 632.
- 26. Lucet, D.; Le Gall, T.; Mioskowski, C. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37, 2581.
- 27. Alexakis, A.; Aujard, I. Mangeney, P. Synlett 1998, 873; and references therein.
- 28. Talukdar, S. S.; Banjeri, A. J. Org . Chem. 1998, 63, 3468.
- 29. Liao, P.; Huang, Y.; Zhang, Y. Synth. Commun. 1997, 27, 1483.
- 30. Enholm, E. J.; Forbes, D.C. Synth. Commun. 1990, 20, 981.
- 31. Kalyanam, N.; Rao, G. V. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 1647.
- 32. Baruah, B.; Prajapati, D.; Dandhu, J. S. Tetraherdon Lett. 1995, 37, 6774.
- 33. Tanaka, H.; Dhimane, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 3811.
- 34. Magneney, P.; Terjo, T.; Alexakis, A. Synthesis 1988, 255.
- 35. Khan, H. N.; Zuberi, R. Synth. Commun. 1980, 10, 363.

- 36. Dutta, M. P.; Baruach, B. Synlett, 1998, 857.
- 37. Tsukinoi. T.; Mitoma, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 38, 8873.
- 38. Betschart, C.; Seebach, D. Helv. Chim. Acta. 1987, 70, 2215.
- 39. Rieke, R. D.; Kim, S. H. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 63, 5235.
- 40. Machrouchi, F.; Namy, D. L., Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 1315.
- 41. Mangeney, P.; Alexakis, A.; Grojean, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 2675.
- 42. Eisch, J.; Kaska, D. D.; Peterson, C. J. J. Org. Chem. 1966, 31, 1, 453.
- 43. Bimal, K.; Zegrocka, O.; Banik, I.; Hackfeld, L.; Becker, F. F. *Tetrahedron. Lett.* **1999**, 40, 6731.
- 44. Taniguchi, Y.; Kuno, T.; Kakahaski, M.; Takaki, K.; Fujiwara, Y. Jornal of Alloys and Compounds **1994**, 216, L9.
- 45. Roskamp, E. J.; Predesen, F. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 3152.
- 46. Annunziata, R.; Benaglia, M.; Cinquini, M.; Cozzi.; F.; Raimondi, L. Tetrahedron Letters, 1998, 39, 3333.
- 47. Chung, M. K.; Qi, G.; Stryker, J. M. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 1491.
- 48. Adrian, J. C.; Barkin, J.; Hassib, L. Tetrahedron Letters 1999, 40, 2457.
- 49. Maeda, H.; Maki, T.; Ohmori H. Tetrahedron Letters 1995, 36, 2247.
- 50. Pranab K.; Mahata, U. K.; Syam Kumar, V.; Sriram, H.; Junjappa. H. *Tetrahedron* **2003**, 59, 2631.
- 51. Shimizu, M.; Iida, T.; Fujisawa, T. Chem. Lett. 1995, 609.
- 52. Sergeeva, E.V.; Rozenberg, V.I.; Antonov, D.Y.; Vorontsov, E.; Starikova, Z.A.; Hopf, H. *Tetrahedron Asymmetry*, **2002**, 13, 1121.
- 53. Writh, T. Chem. Int. Engl. Ed. 1996, 35, 61.
- 54. Robertson, G. M.; Comprehensive Organic Synthesis, Oxford, Pergamon Press, 1991, vol.3, p563–610.
- 55. Hatano, B.; Ogawa, A.; Hirao, T. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 942.; and references therein.
- 56. Shimizu, M.; Makino, H. T'etrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 8865.
- 57. Smith, J. G.; Ho, I. J. Org. Chem. 1972, 31, 653.
- 58. Reformatsky, S. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1887, 20, 1210.
- 59. Ocampo R.; Dolbier, W. R. Tetrahedron 2004, 60, 9325.
- 60. Chattopadhyay, A.; Dubey, A. K. J. Org. Chem., 2007, 72, 9357.
- 61. Babu, S. A., Yasuda, M.; Okabe, Y.; Shibata, I. Baba, A. Org. Lett., 2006, 8, 3029.
- 62. Moumne, S. Lavielle, P. Karoyan, J. Org. Chem., 2006, 71, 3332.
- 63. Woodward, R. B.; Heusler, K.; Gosteli, J.; Naegeli, P.; Oppolzer, W.; Ramage, R.; Ranganathan, S; Vorbrüggen, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc., **1966**, 88, 852.
- 64. Tokimoto, H.; Fukase K., Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 6831; and references therein.
- 65. Takayuki, D.; Yoshitaka, N.; Asami, M.; Takashi, T. Total Synthesis of Apratoxin *A. Org. Lett.* **2006**, *8*, 531.
- 66. Hayashi, Y.; Skwarczynski, M.; Hamada, Y.; Sohma, Y.; Kimura, T.; Kiso, Y. J. *Med., Chem.* **2003**, 46, 3782.
- 67. Zeghida, W.; Demeunynck, M. Synthesis 2007, 231.
- 68. Mäeorg, U.; Ragnarsson, U. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 681; and references therein.
- 69. Banfi, D.; Mutter, M.; Patiny, L. Protein and Peptide Lett., 2004, 11, 539.
- 70. Mineno, T.; Choi, S. R. Avery, M. A. Synlett, 2002, 883.
- 71. Greene, T. W.; Wuts, P. G. M. *Protective Groups in Organic Synthesis*, New York, John Wiley and Sons, 1999.
- 72. Somsak, L.; Czifrak, K.; Veres, E. *Tetrahedron Lett.*, **2004**, 45, 9095; and references therein.

- 73. Art, J.F.; Kestemont, J.P.; Soumillion, J. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 1425.
- 74. Roemmele, R. C.; Rapaport, H. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 2367.
- 75. Schultz, A. G.; McCloskey, P. J.; Court, J. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 6496.
- 76. Schön, I. Chem. Rev. 1984, 84, 287.
- 77. Gold, E. H.; Babad, E. J. Org. Chem, 1972, 37, 2208.
- 78. Jordis, U.; Sauter, F.; Siddiqi, S. M.; Küenburg, B.; Bhattacharya, K. Synthesis, 1990, 925.
- 79. Kudav, D. P.; Samant, S. P.; Hosangandi, B. D. Synth. Commun. 1987, 17, 1185.
- 80. Oppolzer, W.; Bienayme, H.; Genovois-Borella, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 9660.
- 81. Weisblat, D. I.; Magerlein, B. J.; Myers, D. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1953, 75, 3630; and references therein.
- 82. Alonso, E.; Ramon, D. J.; Yus, M. Tetrahedron 1997, 53,14355.
- 83. Alonso, D. A.; Andersson, P.G. J. Org. Chem., 1998, 63, 9455.
- 84. Bradshaw, J. S.; Krakowiak, K. E.; Izatt, R. M. Tetrahedron 1992, 48, 4475.
- 85. Nyasse, B.; Grehn, L.; Ragnarsson, U. Chem. Commun. 1997, 1017.
- 86. Chavez, F.; Sherry, A. D. J. Org. Chem., 1989, 54, 2990.
- 87. Nayak, S. K. Synthesis 2000, 1575.
- 88. Sridhar, M.; Kumar, A.; Narender, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 2847.
- 89. Vellemäe, E.; Lebedev, O.; Sillard, R.; Mäeorg, U. J. Chem. Res. 2006, 685; and references therein.
- 90. Vedejs, E.; Lin, S. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59,1602.
- 91. Sobczyk, D.P; Grondelle, J.; Jong, A.M.; Voigt, M. J. A.; Santen, R. A. Applied Radiation and Isotopes 2002, 57, 201.
- 92. Ponikvar, M.; Sedej, B.; Pihlar, B.; Zemve, B. Analytica Chimica Acta 2000, 418, 113.
- 93. Mäeorg, U.; Pehk, T.; Ragnarsson, U. Acta Chem. Scand. 1999, 53, 1127.
- 94. Stafford, J. A.; Brackeen, M. F.; Karanewsky, D. S.; Valvano, N. L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 7873.
- 95. Hernandez, J. N.; Ramirez, M. A.; Martin, V. S. J. Org. Chem., 2003, 68, 3216.
- 96. Yun-Fei, D. et al. J. Chem. Res. 2004, 223.
- 97. Mormann, W.; Leukel, G. Synthesis 1988, 990.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First of all I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Uno Mäeorg for an interesting time in the PhD studies, what I spent under his supervision.

I would also like to thank for the help with NMR, GC and IR analysis:

- Dr. Vladimir Stepanov
- Dr. Olga Tšubrik
- Mr. Erkki Mäeorg (assistance with the GC analysis)
- Mrs. Sirje Mäeorg (assistance with the IR analysis)

I wish to thank Prof. Franz Baumberger (HTI institute of chemistry in Burgdorf) for the possibility to work in his group.

I wish to thank my students:

- Mr. Sven Retkov
- Mr. Oleg Lebedev
- for assisting with some experiments.

The special thanks to Dr. Vladimir Stepanov for the linguistic corrections and Prof. Jaak Järv for his great support.

For financial support I wish to thank Estonian Science Foundation (grants ETF5255, ETF6706 and ETF8031).

And finally, all the others academic teachers and colleagues helping me to become a chemist.

PUBLICATIONS

CURRICULUM VITAE

Eerold Vellemäe

Born:	04.08.79, Tallinn
Citizenship:	Estonian
Marital status:	Single
Adress:	University of Tartu, Faculty of Science and Technology,
	Institute of Chemistry, Jakobi 2, 51014 Tartu, Estonia.
E-mail:	eerold.vellemae@ut.ee

Education

High school of Kuusalu
University of Tartu, BSc (chemistry)
University of Tartu, MSc (organic chemistry)
University of Tartu, PhD student

Emploiment

2001–2003The Health Protection Inspectorate, analyst.2005–Pharmasynth AS, chemist

2004–2004 HTI institute of chemistry in Burgdorf, in the workgroup of Prof. Franz Baumberger

Professional experiances and traing

Scientific publications

- Vellemäe, E., Stepanov, V., Mäeorg, U. A Mild Approach to the Deprotection of Troc from Protected Amines Using Mischmetal and TMSCl. Submitted in *Synthetic communications* **2009** (Paper number LSYC-2009-3321).
- Vellemäe, E., Lebedev, O., Mäeorg, U. A mild method for cleavage of N-Tos protected amines using mischmetal and TiCl₄. *Tetrahedron Letters*, 2008, 49, 1373–1375
- Vellemäe, E., Lebedev, O., Sillard R., Mäeorg, U. A Selective method for cleavage of N-Troc protected hydrazines and amines in mild conditions using mischmetal and TMSCI. *Journal of Chemical Research*, 2006, 685– 687.

- Vellemäe, E., Tšubrik, O., Loog, O., Mäeorg, S., Mäeorg, U. Mischmetal and zinc-copper couple as efficient reagent for the pinacol coupling of aldimines. Journal of Chemical Research, 2006,149–150.
- Vellemäe, E., Tšubrik, O., Loog, O., Mäeorg, S., Mäeorg, U. Mischmetal, zinccopper couple, and devarda alloy in the pinacol coupling of aldimines. Proceedings of the Estonian Academy of Sciences. Chemistry 2003, 52(2), 91– 95.

CURRICULUM VITAE

Eerold Vellemäe

Sünniaeg ja koht:	04.08.79, Tallinn
Kodakondsus:	Eesti
Perekonnaseis:	vallaline
Aadress:	Tartu Ülikool, Loodus- ja tehnoloogiateaduskond, Keemia
	Instituut, Jakobi 2, Tartu 51014, Eesti.
E-mail:	eerold.vellemae@ut.ee

Haridus

ol
Sc
Sc
oktorant

Teenistuskäik

2001–2003Tartu Tervisekaitselabor, analüütik2005–Pharmasynt AS, keemik

Erialane enesetäiendus

2004–2004 HTI keemia instituut Burgdorfis, Prof. Franz Baumberger uurimisgrupis.

Teaduspublikatsioonid

- Vellemäe, E., Stepanov, V., Mäeorg, U. A Mild Approach to the Deprotection of Troc from Protected Amines Using Mischmetal and TMSCl. Submitted in *Synthetic communications* **2009** (Paper number LSYC-2009–3321).
- Vellemäe, E., Lebedev, O., Mäeorg, U. A mild method for cleavage of N-Tos protected amines using mischmetal and TiCl₄. *Tetrahedron Letters*, 2008, 49, 1373–1375
- Vellemäe, E., Lebedev, O., Sillard R., Mäeorg, U. A Selective method for cleavage of N-Troc protected hydrazines and amines in mild conditions using mischmetal and TMSCI. *Journal of Chemical Research*, 2006, 685– 687.

- Vellemäe, E., Tšubrik, O., Loog, O., Mäeorg, S., Mäeorg, U. Mischmetal and zinc-copper couple as efficient reagent for the pinacol coupling of aldimines. Journal of Chemical Research, 2006,149–150.
- Vellemäe, E., Tšubrik, O., Loog, O., Mäeorg, S., Mäeorg, U. Mischmetal, zinccopper couple, and devarda alloy in the pinacol coupling of aldimines. Proceedings of the Estonian Academy of Sciences. Chemistry 2003, 52(2), 91– 95.

DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

- 1. **Toomas Tamm.** Quantum-chemical simulation of solvent effects. Tartu, 1993, 110 p.
- 2. **Peeter Burk.** Theoretical study of gas-phase acid-base equilibria. Tartu, 1994, 96 p.
- 3. Victor Lobanov. Quantitative structure-property relationships in large descriptor spaces. Tartu, 1995, 135 p.
- 4. **Vahur Mäemets.** The ¹⁷O and ¹H nuclear magnetic resonance study of H₂O in individual solvents and its charged clusters in aqueous solutions of electrolytes. Tartu, 1997, 140 p.
- 5. Andrus Metsala. Microcanonical rate constant in nonequilibrium distribution of vibrational energy and in restricted intramolecular vibrational energy redistribution on the basis of slater's theory of unimolecular reactions. Tartu, 1997, 150 p.
- 6. Uko Maran. Quantum-mechanical study of potential energy surfaces in different environments. Tartu, 1997, 137 p.
- 7. Alar Jänes. Adsorption of organic compounds on antimony, bismuth and cadmium electrodes. Tartu, 1998, 219 p.
- 8. **Kaido Tammeveski.** Oxygen electroreduction on thin platinum films and the electrochemical detection of superoxide anion. Tartu, 1998, 139 p.
- 9. **Ivo Leito.** Studies of Brønsted acid-base equilibria in water and non-aqueous media. Tartu, 1998, 101 p.
- 10. Jaan Leis. Conformational dynamics and equilibria in amides. Tartu, 1998, 131 p.
- 11. **Toonika Rinken.** The modelling of amperometric biosensors based on oxidoreductases. Tartu, 2000, 108 p.
- 12. Dmitri Panov. Partially solvated Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2000, 64 p.
- 13. **Kaja Orupõld.** Treatment and analysis of phenolic wastewater with microorganisms. Tartu, 2000, 123 p.
- 14. Jüri Ivask. Ion Chromatographic determination of major anions and cations in polar ice core. Tartu, 2000, 85 p.
- 15. Lauri Vares. Stereoselective Synthesis of Tetrahydrofuran and Tetrahydropyran Derivatives by Use of Asymmetric Horner-Wadsworth-Emmons and Ring Closure Reactions. Tartu, 2000, 184 p.
- 16. **Martin Lepiku.** Kinetic aspects of dopamine D₂ receptor interactions with specific ligands. Tartu, 2000, 81 p.
- 17. **Katrin Sak.** Some aspects of ligand specificity of P2Y receptors. Tartu, 2000, 106 p.
- 18. **Vello Pällin.** The role of solvation in the formation of iotsitch complexes. Tartu, 2001, 95 p.

- 19. **Katrin Kollist.** Interactions between polycyclic aromatic compounds and humic substances. Tartu, 2001, 93 p.
- 20. **Ivar Koppel.** Quantum chemical study of acidity of strong and superstrong Brønsted acids. Tartu, 2001, 104 p.
- 21. Viljar Pihl. The study of the substituent and solvent effects on the acidity of OH and CH acids. Tartu, 2001, 132 p.
- 22. Natalia Palm. Specification of the minimum, sufficient and significant set of descriptors for general description of solvent effects. Tartu, 2001, 134 p.
- 23. Sulev Sild. QSPR/QSAR approaches for complex molecular systems. Tartu, 2001, 134 p.
- 24. **Ruslan Petrukhin.** Industrial applications of the quantitative structureproperty relationships. Tartu, 2001, 162 p.
- 25. **Boris V. Rogovoy.** Synthesis of (benzotriazolyl)carboximidamides and their application in relations with *N* and *S*-nucleophyles. Tartu, 2002, 84 p.
- 26. Koit Herodes. Solvent effects on UV-vis absorption spectra of some solvatochromic substances in binary solvent mixtures: the preferential solvation model. Tartu, 2002, 102 p.
- 27. Anti Perkson. Synthesis and characterisation of nanostructured carbon. Tartu, 2002, 152 p.
- 28. **Ivari Kaljurand.** Self-consistent acidity scales of neutral and cationic Brønsted acids in acetonitrile and tetrahydrofuran. Tartu, 2003, 108 p.
- 29. **Karmen Lust.** Adsorption of anions on bismuth single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2003, 128 p.
- 30. **Mare Piirsalu.** Substituent, temperature and solvent effects on the alkaline hydrolysis of substituted phenyl and alkyl esters of benzoic acid. Tartu, 2003, 156 p.
- 31. Meeri Sassian. Reactions of partially solvated Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2003, 78 p.
- 32. **Tarmo Tamm.** Quantum chemical modelling of polypyrrole. Tartu, 2003. 100 p.
- 33. Erik Teinemaa. The environmental fate of the particulate matter and organic pollutants from an oil shale power plant. Tartu, 2003. 102 p.
- 34. Jaana Tammiku-Taul. Quantum chemical study of the properties of Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2003. 120 p.
- 35. Andre Lomaka. Biomedical applications of predictive computational chemistry. Tartu, 2003. 132 p.
- 36. Kostyantyn Kirichenko. Benzotriazole Mediated Carbon–Carbon Bond Formation. Tartu, 2003. 132 p.
- 37. Gunnar Nurk. Adsorption kinetics of some organic compounds on bismuth single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2003, 170 p.
- 38. **Mati Arulepp.** Electrochemical characteristics of porous carbon materials and electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2003, 196 p.
- 39. **Dan Cornel Fara.** QSPR modeling of complexation and distribution of organic compounds. Tartu, 2004, 126 p.

- 40. **Riina Mahlapuu.** Signalling of galanin and amyloid precursor protein through adenylate cyclase. Tartu, 2004, 124 p.
- 41. **Mihkel Kerikmäe.** Some luminescent materials for dosimetric applications and physical research. Tartu, 2004, 143 p.
- 42. Jaanus Kruusma. Determination of some important trace metal ions in human blood. Tartu, 2004, 115 p.
- 43. Urmas Johanson. Investigations of the electrochemical properties of polypyrrole modified electrodes. Tartu, 2004, 91 p.
- 44. **Kaido Sillar.** Computational study of the acid sites in zeolite ZSM-5. Tartu, 2004, 80 p.
- 45. Aldo Oras. Kinetic aspects of dATP α S interaction with P2Y₁ receptor. Tartu, 2004, 75 p.
- 46. Erik Mölder. Measurement of the oxygen mass transfer through the airwater interface. Tartu, 2005, 73 p.
- 47. **Thomas Thomberg.** The kinetics of electroreduction of peroxodisulfate anion on cadmium (0001) single crystal electrode. Tartu, 2005, 95 p.
- 48. **Olavi Loog.** Aspects of condensations of carbonyl compounds and their imine analogues. Tartu, 2005, 83 p.
- 49. **Siim Salmar.** Effect of ultrasound on ester hydrolysis in aqueous ethanol. Tartu, 2006, 73 p.
- 50. Ain Uustare. Modulation of signal transduction of heptahelical receptors by other receptors and G proteins. Tartu, 2006, 121 p.
- 51. Sergei Yurchenko. Determination of some carcinogenic contaminants in food. Tartu, 2006, 143 p.
- 52. **Kaido Tämm.** QSPR modeling of some properties of organic compounds. Tartu, 2006, 67 p.
- 53. **Olga Tšubrik.** New methods in the synthesis of multisubstituted hydrazines. Tartu. 2006, 183 p.
- 54. Lilli Sooväli. Spectrophotometric measurements and their uncertainty in chemical analysis and dissociation constant measurements. Tartu, 2006, 125 p.
- 55. Eve Koort. Uncertainty estimation of potentiometrically measured ph and pK_a values. Tartu, 2006, 139 p.
- 56. Sergei Kopanchuk. Regulation of ligand binding to melanocortin receptor subtypes. Tartu, 2006, 119 p.
- 57. Silvar Kallip. Surface structure of some bismuth and antimony single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2006, 107 p.
- 58. Kristjan Saal. Surface silanization and its application in biomolecule coupling. Tartu, 2006, 77 p.
- 59. **Tanel Tätte.** High viscosity Sn(OBu)₄ oligomeric concentrates and their applications in technology. Tartu, 2006, 91 p.
- 60. **Dimitar Atanasov Dobchev**. Robust QSAR methods for the prediction of properties from molecular structure. Tartu, 2006, 118 p.

- 61. Hannes Hagu. Impact of ultrasound on hydrophobic interactions in solutions. Tartu, 2007, 81 p.
- 62. **Rutha Jäger.** Electroreduction of peroxodisulfate anion on bismuth electrodes. Tartu, 2007, 142 p.
- 63. **Kaido Viht.** Immobilizable bisubstrate-analogue inhibitors of basophilic protein kinases: development and application in biosensors. Tartu, 2007, 88 p.
- 64. **Eva-Ingrid Rõõm.** Acid-base equilibria in nonpolar media. Tartu, 2007, 156 p.
- 65. **Sven Tamp.** DFT study of the cesium cation containing complexes relevant to the cesium cation binding by the humic acids. Tartu, 2007, 102 p.
- 66. Jaak Nerut. Electroreduction of hexacyanoferrate(III) anion on Cadmium (0001) single crystal electrode. Tartu, 2007, 180 p.
- 67. Lauri Jalukse. Measurement uncertainty estimation in amperometric dissolved oxygen concentration measurement. Tartu, 2007, 112 p.
- 68. Aime Lust. Charge state of dopants and ordered clusters formation in CaF₂:Mn and CaF₂:Eu luminophors. Tartu, 2007, 100 p.
- 69. **Iiris Kahn**. Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationships of environmentally relevant properties. Tartu, 2007, 98 p.
- 70. **Mari Reinik.** Nitrates, nitrites, N-nitrosamines and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in food: analytical methods, occurrence and dietary intake. Tartu, 2007, 172 p.
- 71. **Heili Kasuk.** Thermodynamic parameters and adsorption kinetics of organic compounds forming the compact adsorption layer at Bi single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2007, 212 p.
- 72. Erki Enkvist. Synthesis of adenosine-peptide conjugates for biological applications. Tartu, 2007, 114 p.
- 73. Svetoslav Hristov Slavov. Biomedical applications of the QSAR approach. Tartu, 2007, 146 p.
- 74. Eneli Härk. Electroreduction of complex cations on electrochemically polished Bi(*hkl*) single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2008, 158 p.
- 75. **Priit Möller.** Electrochemical characteristics of some cathodes for medium temperature solid oxide fuel cells, synthesized by solid state reaction technique. Tartu, 2008, 90 p.
- 76. **Signe Viggor.** Impact of biochemical parameters of genetically different pseudomonads at the degradation of phenolic compounds. Tartu, 2008, 122 p.
- 77. **Ave Sarapuu.** Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on quinone-modified carbon electrodes and on thin films of platinum and gold. Tartu, 2008, 134 p.
- 78. Agnes Kütt. Studies of acid-base equilibria in non-aqueous media. Tartu, 2008, 198 p.
- 79. **Rouvim Kadis.** Evaluation of measurement uncertainty in analytical chemistry: related concepts and some points of misinterpretation. Tartu, 2008, 118 p.

- 80. Valter Reedo. Elaboration of IVB group metal oxide structures and their possible applications. Tartu, 2008, 98 p.
- 81. Aleksei Kuznetsov. Allosteric effects in reactions catalyzed by the cAMPdependent protein kinase catalytic subunit. Tartu, 2009, 133 p.
- 82. Aleksei Bredihhin. Use of mono- and polyanions in the synthesis of multisubstituted hydrazine derivatives. Tartu, 2009, 105 p.
- 83. Anu Ploom. Quantitative structure-reactivity analysis in organosilicon chemistry. Tartu, 2009, 99 p.
- 84. Argo Vonk. Determination of adenosine A_{2A} and dopamine D_1 receptorspecific modulation of adenylate cyclase activity in rat striatum. Tartu, 2009, 129 p.
- 85. **Indrek Kivi.** Synthesis and electrochemical characterization of porous cathode materials for intermediate temperature solid oxide fuel cells. Tartu, 2009, 177 p.
- 86. **Jaanus Eskusson.** Synthesis and characterisation of diamond-like carbon thin films prepared by pulsed laser deposition method. Tartu, 2009, 117 p.
- 87. Margo Lätt. Carbide derived microporous carbon and electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2009, 107 p.
- 88. Vladimir Stepanov. Slow conformational changes in dopamine transporter interaction with its ligands. Tartu, 2009, 103 p.
- 89. Aleksander Trummal. Computational Study of Structural and Solvent Effects on Acidities of Some Brønsted Acids. Tartu, 2009, 103 p.